

Timo Leivo

# PRICING ANOMALIES IN THE FINNISH STOCK MARKET

Thesis for the degree of Doctor of Science (Economics and Business Administration) to be presented with due permission for the public examination and criticism in the Auditorium 1383 at Lappeenranta University of Technology, Lappeenranta, Finland, on the 17th of the December, 2012, at noon.

Acta Universitatis Lappeenrantaensis 505 Supervisor Professor, Eero Pätäri

Lappeenranta University of Technology

School of Business, Dep. of Business Economics and Law – Finance

Finland

Reviewers Professor, Timo Rothovius

University of Vaasa

Business Studies, Dep. of Accounting and Finance

Finland

Professor and the Ben Graham Chair in Value Investing, George Athanassakos

Richard Ivey School of Business - The University of Western Ontario

Finance-Economics

Canada

Opponent Professor, Timo Rothovius

University of Vaasa

Business Studies, Dep. of Accounting and Finance

Finland

ISBN 978-952-265-356-7 ISBN 978-952-265-357-4 (PDF)

ISSN 1456-4491

Lappeenrannan teknillinen yliopisto Yliopistopaino 2012

#### **ABSTRACT**

Timo Leivo

# Pricing anomalies in the Finnish stock market

Lappeenranta, 2012 73 pages

Acta University Lappeenrantaensis 505 Diss. Lappeenranta University of Technology

ISBN 978-952-265-356-7, ISBN 978-952-265-357-4 (PDF), ISSN 1456-4491

The aim of this thesis is to examine whether the pricing anomalies exists in the Finnish stock markets by comparing the performance of quantile portfolios that are formed on the basis of either individual valuation ratios, composite value measures or combined value and momentum indicators. All the research papers included in the thesis show evidence of value anomalies in the Finnish stock markets. In the first paper, the sample of stocks over the 1991-2006 period is divided into quintile portfolios based on four individual valuation ratios (i.e., E/P, EBITDA/EV, B/P, and S/P) and three hybrids of them (i.e. composite value measures). The results show the superiority of composite value measures as selection criterion for value stocks, particularly when EBITDA/EV is employed as earnings multiple. The main focus of the second paper is on the impact of the holding period length on performance of value strategies. As an extension to the first paper, two more individual ratios (i.e. CF/P and D/P) are included in the comparative analysis. The sample of stocks over 1993-2008 period is divided into tercile portfolios based on six individual valuation ratios and three hybrids of them. The use of either dividend yield criterion or one of three composite value measures being examined results in best value portfolio performance according to all performance metrics used. Parallel to the findings of many international studies, our results from performance comparisons indicate that for the sample data employed, the yearly reformation of portfolios is not necessarily optimal in order to maximally gain from the value premium. Instead, the value investor may extend his holding period up to 5 years without any decrease in long-term portfolio performance. The same holds also for the results of the third paper that examines the applicability

of data envelopment analysis (DEA) method in discriminating the undervalued stocks from overvalued ones.

The fourth paper examines the added value of combining price momentum with various value strategies. Taking account of the price momentum improves the performance of value portfolios in most cases. The performance improvement is greatest for value portfolios that are formed on the basis of the 3-composite value measure which consists of D/P, B/P and EBITDA/EV ratios. The risk-adjusted performance can be enhanced further by following 130/30 long-short strategy in which the long position of value winner stocks is leveraged by 30 percentages while simultaneously selling short glamour loser stocks by the same amount. Average return of the long-short position proved to be more than double stock market average coupled with the volatility decrease.

The fifth paper offers a new approach to combine value and momentum indicators into a single portfolio-formation criterion using different variants of DEA models. The results throughout the 1994-2010 sample period shows that the top-tercile portfolios outperform both the market portfolio and the corresponding bottom-tercile portfolios. In addition, the middle-tercile portfolios also outperform the comparable bottom-tercile portfolios when DEA models are used as a basis for stock classification criteria. To my knowledge, such strong performance differences have not been reported in earlier peer-reviewed studies that have employed the comparable quantile approach of dividing stocks into portfolios. Consistently with the previous literature, the division of the full sample period into bullish and bearish periods reveals that the top-quantile DEA portfolios lose far less of their value during the bearish conditions than do the corresponding bottom portfolios.

The sixth paper extends the sample period employed in the fourth paper by one year (i.e. 1993-2009) covering also the first years of the recent financial crisis. It contributes to the fourth paper by examining the impact of the stock market conditions on the main results. Consistently with the fifth paper, value portfolios lose much less of their value during bearish conditions than do stocks on average. The inclusion of a momentum criterion somewhat adds value to an investor during bullish conditions, but this added value turns to negative during bearish conditions. During bear market periods some of the value loser portfolios perform even better than their value winner counterparts. Furthermore, the results show that the recent financial crisis has reduced the added value of using combinations of momentum and value indicators as portfolio formation criteria. However, since the stock markets have historically been bullish more often than bearish, the combination of the value

and momentum criteria has paid off to the investor despite the fact that its added value during bearish periods is negative, on an average.

**Keywords:** Value premium, valuation multiples, value strategies, composite value measures, portfolio performance measurement, holding period, value investing, data envelopment analysis, portfolio performance, valuation ratios.

UDC 336.76:658.147.17

#### **ACKNOWLEDGMENTS**

During the several years of writing the thesis, work on this dissertation turn out to be long and challenging, but at the same time interesting and exciting process. Now the time has arrived to thank the many people who have helped and supported me throughout the process. I would like to express my sincere gratitude to Professor Eero Pätäri, supervisor, co-author, colleague and the teacher for me. I was extremely lucky to meet him at the very early stage of my academic studies. In fact, the first finance course I participated, Investments, was taught by him. He was supervisor of my Master's thesis and closest colleague when I began to teach finance courses in year 2002. He has always be a great mentor for me as well in teaching and researching and encourages me to go forward. He has always given his time whenever I have had some questions or problems. Without him, this thesis would have never been done – at least not even near as good as it is now. So, thank you very much Eero for all the great things you have done for me, and made it possible to achieve academic career. I really hope that we can continue to work and write many more articles together.

I want to thank the third co-author of the third and fifth article of the thesis, Dr. Samuli Honkapuro who has worked years in the field of data envelopment analysis. He made it possible to write the joint papers where we conjoin our specialities and end up to give something new and special for the community of science. Both of the articles were successes and the first one was chosen as a highly commented award winner at Emerald Studies in Economics and Finance.

I also owe my most sincere gratitude to my dissertation examiners, Professor Timo Rothovius, University of Vaasa, and Professor and the Ben Graham Chair in Value Investing, George Athanassakos, Richard Ivey School of Business – The University of Western Ontario.

This study was carried out at the Department of Business Economics and Law, School of Business, Lappeenranta University of Technology, Finland, during 2004-2012. I would like to thank Professor Kalevi Kyläheiko, Professor Jaana Sandström and Professor Minna Martikainen. Further, I wish to thank to all my present and past colleagues at the department. In particular, I would like to thank Professor Mika Vaihekoski for the same time believing and doubting me. I was convinced that financial markets were not fully efficient but I had not enough evidence. To search this evidence was one of the main tasks of the dissertation. Thank you also for all the help and support you gave me especially for guiding me at the right tracks from the beginning. Thank you Dr. Kashif Saleem, Elena Fedorova and Jyri Kinnunen for supporting and believing in me. Thanks to all my fellow

doctoral students at the Graduate School of Finance and Lappeenranta University of Technology. I wish to thank the whole faculty of the Lappeenranta University of Technology in Business Administration and every one I've been contact relating to dissertation process.

I would like to express my gratitude to Graduate School of Finance associated faculty Professors Mikko Leppämäki, Eva Liljeblom, Johan Knif, Seppo Pynnönen, Renée Adams, Claus Munk, Hersh Shefrin, John List, Thierry Foucault and Dr. Peter Nyberg. Thank you Professor Joshua Livnat, Professor R. Carter Hill, Professor Kjell Grönhaug, Professor Tomi Seppälä, Dr. Jorma Sappinen, Professor Kaisu Puumalainen, Professor Jaana Sandström for teaching the graduate courses. Thank you Professor Jukka Perttunen and Professor Timo Rothovius for review and comments for my drafts presented in Graduate School of Finance seminars.

I would like to thank my father and mother, both of my sisters for supporting me by listening whenever I was enthusiasm for writing and creating the thesis. Mitro, Maya, Mea and Tiitu thanks for bringing joy in my life. Hard work needs sometimes also relaxation – I would like to thank my closest friends, Pasi, and especially Immu for joint fishing trips. On those trips we really got fishes, but every time I got something more as well – the energy to write more. Anssi, I would like to thank you for encourage me to take student loan in year 1999 and invest it to stock markets. As strange as it sounds, it was like a clear sign for me what I want to start to study and do, and basically the beginning of all of this. I have been hooked ever since to all kind of investments. Kalle, I would like to thank you for those numerous interesting conversations about business and investments.

Especially I would like to thank for Milkkis and Emppu. You both are the light and love of my life.

I would like to thank Lauri- ja Lahja Hotisen säätiö, Arvopaperimarkkinoiden edistämissäätiö, Säästöpankkien tutkimussäätiö, Nordea pankin säätiö, Lappeenrannan teknillisen yliopiston tukisäätiö, Nasdaq OMX Nordic foundation, KAUTE foundation, and Vuorineuvos Tekn. ja Kauppat. tri. h.c. Marcus Wallenbergin Liiketaloudellinen tutkimussäätiö for grants. They really made a difference and especially at the late half of writing the thesis, grants made it possible to finishing the thesis by offering economic support that was indeed needed.

Lappeenranta, December 2012

Timo Leivo

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

# ABSTRACT

# ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

# PART A: OVERVIEW OF THE DISSERTATION

1	1 INTRODUCTION			
	1.1	Background and motivation of the study	15	
	1.2	Objective of the thesis	16	
	1.3	Structure of the thesis	18	
2	RE	VIEW OF VALUE ANOMALIES	19	
	2.1	Earnings yield (E/P) anomaly	19	
	2.2	Cash flow-to-price (CF/P) anomaly	23	
	2.3 (EBI	Earnings Before Interest, Taxes, Depreciations and Amortizations to Enterprise Value (FDA/EV) anomaly	25	
	2.4	Book-to-Price (B/P) anomaly	27	
	2.5	Dividend yield (D/P) anomaly	31	
	2.6	Sales-to-Price (S/P) anomaly	35	
	2.7	Composite value measures	37	
	2.8	Explanations to value premium	41	
3	IN	TERACTION OF VALUE AND MOMENTUM ANOMALIES	44	
	3.1	Momentum anomalies	44	
	3.2	Explanations to momentum anomalies	45	
	3.3	Empirical evidence of value-momentum interaction	46	
4	SU	MMARY OF PUBLICATIONS	49	
	4.1	The main results of the publications	49	
	4.2	Limitations of the thesis	53	
5	DI	SCUSSION AND CONCLUSIONS	55	
R	EEER1	ENCES	58	

#### **PART B: PUBLICATIONS**

- 1. Leivo, T.H., Pätäri, E.J. and Kilpiä, I.J.J. (2009) Value Enhancement Using Composite Measures: The Finnish Evidence, *International Research Journal of Finance and Economics*, No. 33, pp. 7-30.
- 2. Leivo, T.H. and Pätäri, E.J. (2009) The Impact of Holding Period Length on Value Portfolio Performance in the Finnish Stock Markets, *Journal of Money, Investment and Banking*, No. 8, pp. 71-86.
- 3. Pätäri, E.J., Leivo, T.H. and Honkapuro, J.V.S. (2010) Enhancement of Value Portfolio Performance using Data Envelopment Analysis, *Studies in Economics and Finance*, Vol. 27, No. 3, pp. 223-246.
- 4. Leivo, T.H. and Pätäri, E.J. (2010) Enhancement of Value Portfolio Performance Using Momentum and the Long-Short Strategy; the Finnish Evidence, *Journal of Asset Management*, Vol. 11, No. 6, pp. 401-416.
- 5. Pätäri, E.J., Leivo, T.H. and Honkapuro, J.V.S. (2012) Enhancement of Equity Portfolio Performance using Data Envelopment Analysis, *European Journal of Operational Research*, Vol. 220, No. 3, pp. 786-797.
- 6. Leivo, T.H. (2012) The Benefits of Combining Value and Momentum Indicators in Varying Stock Market Conditions: the Finnish Evidence, *Review of Accounting and Finance*, Vol. 11, No. 4, pp. 400-447.

## Timo Leivo's contribution in the publications:

- 1. Main author. The contribution is distributed equally with the co-authors (1/3 of the paper's contribution).
- 2. Main author. The contribution is distributed equally with the co-author (half of the paper's contribution).
- 3. Second author. The contribution is distributed equally with the co-authors (1/3 of the paper's contribution).
- 4. Main author. The contribution is distributed equally with the co-author (half of the paper's contribution).
- 5. Second author. The contribution is distributed equally with the co-authors (1/3 of the paper's contribution).
- 6. Sole author.



#### 1 INTRODUCTION

#### 1.1 Background and motivation of the study

Already in the 1930's when the Great Depression had crashed down the stock market, the academics started to develop theories of a correct par value of the stocks. These pricing theories motivated investors to chase abnormal returns by using trading strategies which were based on the mispricing of the stocks. Soon after the introduction of the Capital Asset Pricing Model (henceforth CAPM), the first contrarian results according to which risk and return will not always move handin-hand were published: Already Lintner (1965), who is acknowledged as one of inventors of the CAPM, documented that the security market line was too flat in comparison with the predictions. The follow-up anomaly studies began the new era of the stock market research - the era which still goes on. During the recent decades, several investment strategies have been proven to generate abnormal returns. Almost in every case such results have been understated by the apologists of the CAPM by invoking either data mining, methodological flaws or even misinterpretation of the results. However, new evidence against stock market efficiency is published continuously. For example, numerous studies have identified the existence of price momentum on stock returns (e.g., see Jegadeesh and Titman, 1993, 2001; Chan et al., 1996; Rouwenhorst, 1998; Chan et al., 2000; Grundy and Martin, 2001; Lewellen, 2002; Korajczyk and Sadka, 2004; Patro and Wu, 2004; Gutierrez and Kelly, 2008; Galariotis, 2010; Chui et al., 2010), which refers to the tendency of recent winner stocks to generate abnormal returns also in the near future. On the other hand, there is plenty of international evidence of a value premium in stock returns (e.g., see Dimson et al., 2003; Chan and Lakonishok, 2004; Brown et al., 2008; Barbee et al., 2008; Fama and French, 2006, 2012) which refers to the tendency of value stocks to outperform glamour stocks. Recently, new evidence of added-value of combining value and momentum strategies has also been documented (e.g., see Bird and Casavecchia, 2007a; Bettman et al., 2009; Asness et al., 2010; Leivo and Pätäri, 2011; Guerard, Jr. et al., 2012).

Stock market anomalies have also examined with the Finnish data (for examples of earlier studies on earnings-to-price (henceforth E/P) anomaly, see e.g., Martikainen, 1992; Booth *et al.*, 1994, and on cash flow-to-price (henceforth CF/P) anomaly, Kauppi and Martikainen, 1994; Kallunki, 2000). However, all these studies have employed data from 1970s and 1980s, when the Finnish stock

market was relatively regulated and prone to low liquidity effects (e.g. the limitations of foreign ownership were removed in 1993). On the other hand, many anomalies documented in international markets have not examined at all with the Finnish data in peer-reviewed journal articles. 1 For these reasons, we have collected a comprehensive data of Finnish exchange-traded companies throughout the 1991-2010 period to find out whether the results from our national markets are consistent with the international evidence of various anomalies. The recent Finnish stock market data provides an interesting basis for this type of analysis since the Finnish stock market are prone to an intermittent "periphery syndrome" caused by the behaviour of international institutional investors who cash their equity positions first from the farthest stock markets during turbulent times. This withdrawal process, coupled with the relatively low liquidity of the Finnish stock market, results in drops in stock prices that are steeper than simultaneous drops in larger and more liquid stock markets. On the other hand, during bullish sentiment stock prices tend to rise in Finland more than they do in the major stock markets due to the comeback of international investors. The recent era of financial crises has provided new evidence of this recurrent phenomenon. It is therefore likely that pricing errors causing various kinds of anomalies are also larger in the Finnish market, implying that the opportunities to earn abnormal profits by means of investment strategies based on pricing anomalies could also be somewhat better.

#### 1.2 Objective of the thesis

The thesis examines whether abnormal returns have been available for the investor following systematic trading strategies in the Finnish stock market over the 1991-2010 period. The first paper examines the performance of various value strategies in the Finnish stock market during the 1991-2006 period. The sample of stocks is divided into quintile portfolios based on four individual valuation ratios; i.e., E/P, EBITDA/EV (*Enterprise Value to Earnings Before Interest, Taxes, Depreciations and Amortizations*), B/P (*Book-to-Price*), and S/P (*Sales-to-Price*) and three hybrids of them. The full sample period is further divided into five year sub-periods and in addition, into distinct bull and bear market periods.

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Recently, some international studies have included Finnish companies as a part of the larger international data but the results based on the Finnish data have not reported separately in these studies (e.g., see Bird and Casavecchia, 2007a; Fama and French, 2012). On the other hand, the Finnish subsample included in these papers has not been very comprehensive, because there are many missing companies in public databases that also include Finnish exchange-traded companies.

The second research paper examines the impact of the holding period length on performance of various value strategies in the Finnish stock market during the 1993-2008 period. The sample of stocks is divided into 3-quantile portfolios based on six individual valuation ratios and three hybrids of them. As an extension to the first paper two individual valuation ratios; i.e. CF/P and D/P (dividend yield) are included in the analysis and in addition, D/P ratio is included in composite value measures.

The third research paper examines the applicability of data envelopment analysis (DEA) as a basis of value portfolio selection criterion. The portfolios are based on the DEA scale efficiency scores of sample stocks. The impact of holding period length on the results is also examined in this paper by varying the portfolio reformation frequency from 1 to 5 years at annual frequency. The proposed DEA methodology provides an interesting alternative to detect undervalued stocks by capturing several dimensions of relative value simultaneously. To my best knowledge, this is the first time in financial literature when the DEA methodology is applied as a basis of composite value measure.

The fourth research paper examines the added value of combining price momentum with various value strategies in the Finnish stock market during the same sample period employed in two preceding papers. In addition, the performance of the long-short strategy is analysed. Moreover, the proportions of stocks that have exceeded the return of stock market average are calculated for each quintile portfolio formed on the basis of the different classification criterion. This analysis increases the understanding on the issue how the value premium is actually attributed.

The fifth paper examines the efficiency of DEA as a formation criterion for equity portfolios in a case in which input and output factors are derived from indicators of relative valuation of stocks and from the price momentum indicator. Thus applied, the DEA approach can be considered as an alternative for constructing a combined investment strategy that aims to integrate the benefits of both value investing and momentum investing. As far as I know, this is the first time when the DEA approach is employed for combining value and momentum indicators.

The sixth research paper examines the added value of combining a momentum indicator with a value indicator in varying stock market conditions during the 1993-2009 period. The performance differences between quintile portfolios and the market portfolio are analyzed over several economic cycles to find out whether their existence and degree are dependent on stock market sentiment. In

addition to the bull and bear market analysis, the performance of quintile portfolios are analyzed during the recent financial crisis that provides an interesting basis for sub-period analysis. Since the latest financial crisis has had dramatic consequences on stock markets, an additional robustness test is performed in which the era of financial crisis is excluded from the sample period to see its impact on the main findings.

#### 1.3 Structure of the thesis

This thesis consists of two parts. The first part presents an overview of the thesis. It is divided in five sections, the first one being an introduction that identifies the background, the motivation, and the objective of the thesis. The second and third sections describe theoretical and empirical background the dissertation will contribute, and synthesizes the existing literature. A brief review of value anomalies is presented in Section 2 and the interaction of value and momentum anomalies is described in Section 3. The main results of the publications, as well as the limitations of thesis are presented in Section 4. Finally, the fifth section summarizes the first part by discussing the main conclusions, contributions, implications and suggestions for future research. The second part of the dissertation comprises six complementary research papers that address the research objectives of thesis described above.

#### 2 REVIEW OF VALUE ANOMALIES

Relative valuation is widely used and there are several reasons why. A valuation based on valuation ratio can be completed more quickly and with far fewer explicit assumptions than a discounted cash flow valuation, where objective is to find the value of assets, given their cash flow, growth, and risk characteristics. In relative valuation, the objective is to value assets based on how similar assets are currently priced in the market. A relative valuation is simpler to understand and easier to present than discounted cash flow valuation, since in relative valuation the aim is more or less to frame an asset as cheap or expensive using a multiple. Relative valuation gives relative measure and not intrinsic value, and is much more likely to reflect the current mood of the market. Multiples are easy to use but they are also easy to misuse. Usually the potential pitfall is to ignore the key variables such as risk, growth, or cash flow when using a relative valuation ratio (Damodaran, 2002). Next, we will review the literature on the use of valuation measures as a basis for investment strategies by starting from individual valuation ratios and proceeding to composite value measures.

#### 2.1 Earnings yield (E/P) anomaly

Although the principles of value investing can be traced back to the 1930s (e.g., see Graham and Dodd, 1934), the first scientific evidence of E/P anomaly was documented by Nicholson (1960) who examined two samples of common U.S. stocks. The first sample consisted of 100 common stocks, predominantly industrial companies. Nicholson formed the portfolios based on E/P ranking of each stock every fifth year from 1939 to 1959 and examined their return performance during the holding periods ranging from 3 years (minimum) to 20 years (maximum). According to the results, the highest E/P quintile portfolio clearly outperformed the lowest E/P quintile portfolio in all 11 holding periods examined. The main results also held for the other sample of 29 chemical common stocks for the 1937-1954 sample period (For this particular sample, Nicholson formed E/P portfolios each year and compared their subsequent returns from 3-, 5- and 10-year holding periods). However, Nicholson did not report any risk measure or risk-adjusted performance measure

for portfolios being compared. In the second half of the 1960s, similar types of studies were also released by Breen (1968), McWilliams (1966), and Nicholson (1968), for example.

To my best knowledge, Basu (1977) was the first who documented the outperformance of high E/P portfolios also on risk-adjusted basis. For the large sample of U.S. industrial firms, he reported monotonically declining performance of quintile portfolios as one moves from the high E/P to low E/P portfolios. Throughout the sample period from April 1957 to March 1971, Basu reformed the portfolios in the beginning of April each year. Basu's seminal work was challenged by Banz (1981) and Reinganum (1981) who both concluded that E/P anomaly is explained by the small-cap anomaly, and furthermore, that the latter subsumes the former. However, in his further research, Basu (1983) showed that E/P anomaly still exists after exercising experimental control over differences in firm size. He proved further that the size effect virtually disappears when returns are controlled for differences in risk and E/P ratios. The parallel results about the insignificance of size factor and the significance of E/P factor are also reported by Artmann et al. (2012) for the large sample of German stocks over the 1963-2006 period. In contrast, Cook and Rozeff (1984) attached approximately equal significance to both E/P and size factors. On the other hand, Banz and Breen (1986) reported a size effect but no independent E/P effect across all months, consistently with Reinganum (1981) whose results were criticized by Basu (1983). Earnings yield anomaly was neither found by Chan et al. (1993) in the Japanese stock markets, while the authors documented significant CF/P and B/P anomalies for the same sample period from 1971 to 1988. The seemingly paradoxical results can be for the most part explained by differences in sample periods and methodologies employed.

After correcting several methodological flaws made in previous studies, Jaffe *et al.* (1989) found significant E/P and size effects when estimated across all months during the 1951-1986 period, consistently with Cook and Rozeff (1984). Moreover, Jaffe *et al.* (1989) reported further that E/P effect was significant in all months, while the size effect was significant only in January. Interestingly, the authors found evidence of consistently high returns for firms of all size with negative earnings.

Fama and French (1992) found that differential returns to E/P strategies are captured by a combination of size and book-to-price ratios and therefore, ended up to exclude earnings yield from

their famous 3-factor model<sup>2</sup>. In contrast, when comparing the performance of the three portfolio-formation criteria (i.e., size, B/P and beta) in the U.S. stock market over the 1985-1994 period, Roll (1995) found that high E/P portfolio produced the highest risk-adjusted returns on the basis of both CAPM and APT risk-adjustment procedures. According to his results, high B/P was also a profitable portfolio-formation criterion, while low size was not. In their later study, Fama and French (1998) also reported that in two out of 13 major regional markets (i.e. in Sweden and Netherlands) the use of E/P ratios as value portfolio formation criteria would have resulted in the highest value premium when comparing four different portfolio formation criteria during the 1975-1995 sample period (In addition to E/P criterion, the three other criteria being compared were based on B/P, CF/P, D/P ratios).

Chen and Zhang (2007) also found evidence that beside the Fama-French factors, E/P ratios may still be useful in explaining stock price movements (see also Penman and Reggiani, 2012). Recently, parallel results were also reported by Artmann *et al.* (2012) in the German stock markets during the 1963-2006 period. The authors found that the explanatory power of the standard Fama-French 3-factor model on cross-section of average stock returns in Germany has not been strong. Using one-dimensional sorts and multivariate Fama-MacBeth (1973) regressions the authors documented a significant positive relation between average returns and three firm characteristics which were B/P, E/P, and momentum. An alternative 3-factor model in which the size factor was replaced with earnings yield factor explained returns better, and the explanatory power was further increased by adding momentum factor. Thus, it seems that explanatory power of different portfolio-formation criteria on subsequent stock returns vary across both the stock markets and the sample periods. The recent evidence of E/P anomaly in Canadian and U.S. stock market were documented by Athanassakos (2009 and 2011b) for the 1985-2005 and the 1986-2006 periods, respectively.

where

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The formula for the Fama-French three-factor model is as follows:

 $r_{it} - r_{ft} = \alpha_i + b_i(r_{mt} - r_{ft}) + s_i SMB_t + h_i HML_t + \varepsilon_{it}$ 

 $r_{it}$  = the return of a portfolio

 $r_{ft}$  = the risk-free rate of return

 $<sup>\</sup>alpha_i$  = the three-factor alpha (the abnormal return over and above to what might be expected based on the three-factor model employed)

 $r_{mt}$  = the stock market return

 $SMB_t$  = the return of size factor (i.e., the return difference between small- and large-cap portfolios)  $HML_t$  = the return of book-to-market (B/P) factor (i.e., the return difference between high and low B/P portfolios)

 $b_i$ ,  $s_i$ , and  $h_i$  are factor sensitivities to stock market, SMB, and HML factors, respectively.

 $<sup>\</sup>varepsilon_i$  = the residual term.

Some scholars have also examined E/P anomaly in the Finnish stock markets in earlier years. Martikainen (1992) found evidence of E/P anomaly in the long run but the anomaly was very sensitive to the estimation period. Moreover, a considerable part of the cross-sectional variation of the Finnish E/P ratios was found to be devoted to differences in securities' systematic risk estimated by instrumental accounting variables, such as accounting betas, financial leverage, operating leverage and growth, as well as market betas. Martikainen (1992) also discovered that when the E/P ratios were first controlled for the effects of these risk variables, the E/P ratios loosed their explanatory power on abnormal returns in the Finnish stock market. This finding suggested that the generally observed E/P anomaly may be largely due to the serious empirical problems in risk estimation. Significant E/P anomaly in the Finnish stock markets at individual stock level was also documented by Booth et al. (1994) who also noted that its major part can be appointed to the unproportional relation between earnings and stock prices. Kauppi and Martikainen (1994) provided also evidence of existence of stock market anomalies in Finland. According the authors, statistical regularities due to earnings, cash flows and firm size were observable on the Finnish stock market and simple trading strategies yielded significant profits over and above transaction costs during the 1975-1990 period. However, in those days, the Finnish stock markets were very small and only 20 firms had their ordinary shares continuously listed and included in this research.

Leivo et al. (2009) documented the significant E/P anomaly in the Finnish stock markets during the 1991-2006 period based on the performance of quintile portfolios reformed at 3-year frequency. Instead, Pätäri and Leivo (2009) divided the sample of Finnish stocks into tercile portfolios reformed at 1-year frequency and report the best performance among E/P portfolios for the middle portfolio during the 1993-2008 period. However, the performance difference between value and glamour E/P tercile portfolios was also significant even after controlling for size effect. Using the same sample data, Leivo and Pätäri (2011) showed that the results hold also for quintile portfolios. Leivo (2012) extended the sample period by one year (from May 2008 to April 2009) and found no difference in the main findings. However, his results show that the inferior performance of two lowest E/P quintile portfolios were for the most part explained by their significant underperformance against three other quintile portfolios during the bear market periods. In this sense, the results were consistent with Pätäri and Leivo (2009) who documented the inferior performance of E/P glamour tercile portfolio compared to the corresponding middle and value portfolios during the bearish conditions.

#### 2.2 Cash flow-to-price (CF/P) anomaly

Some investors are suspicious of earnings per share figures because of differences between companies in how they calculate depreciations and amortizations, and in addition, differences over time in how a particular company will calculate these figures. Many scholars have also shown that accounting losses, i.e. negative earnings can be regarded as temporary by nature and therefore, they are not reflected in cash flow expectations (e.g., see Hayn, 1995; Martikainen, 1997; Kallunki et al., 1998). The shortcomings of accounting earnings have motivated a number of scholars to explore the relationship between cash flow yields and stock returns (for the first attempts, see e.g., Wilson, 1986; Bernard and Stober, 1989). Cash flow is the movement of money into or out of a business, and thus it gives a more reliable measure of company's true ability to create wealth.

To my best knowledge, the use of CF/P as a basis of value investment strategy were first adopted by Chan *et al.* (1991) who compared the efficiency of CF/P criterion with E/P, B/P, and size criterion in the Japanese stock market during the 1971-1988 period. Their results showed that of the four variables considered, the B/P and CF/P ratios had the most significant positive impact on expected returns. Parallel results from the U.S. stock markets for the 1963-1990 period were documented by Lakonishok *et al.* (1994) with the exception that CF/P criterion was somewhat more efficient for their sample data than B/P criterion, while reverse held for the Japanese sample of Chan *et al.* (1991). Both of these cornerstone studies concluded that the observed value premium were not explained by higher risk (measured by volatility) of value stocks. Fama and French (1998) documented the superiority of CF/P criterion in 4 stock markets (i.e., in Germany, Italy, Hong Kong, and Australia) when they compared the national value premiums in 13 major regional markets based on four different portfolio formation criteria during the 1975-1995 sample period (In addition to CF/P criterion, the three other criteria included in their study were B/P, E/P, D/P ratios).

The strong performance of CF/P-based strategies relative to E/P-based strategies is also consistent with the recent evidence. E.g., for the large sample of tradable NYSE and NASDAQ stocks, Dhatt *et al.* (2004) found that among 16 different portfolio formation criteria, which included size criterion, B/P, CF/P, E/P, and S/P criteria, and 11 combination criteria formed on the basis of the four last-mentioned ratios, the use of CF/P criterion resulted in lowest risk and the best risk-return trade-off during the 1980-1998 period. Desai *et al.* (2004), whose main objective was to differentiate the accruals anomaly from the value anomaly phenomenon, noted that, one year after portfolio formation, simple E/P-based strategies yield 10.2% p.a. compared to 15.3% p.a. for CF/P-

based strategies. Dissanaike and Lim (2010) compared the performance of value strategies based on relatively simple measures, like B/P, CF/P, E/P and past return, and some more sophisticated measures, such as those based on the Ohlson (1995) model and residual income model (suggested by Dechow *et al.*, 1999). For the comprehensive sample of U.K. stocks, the authors found that simple cash flow-to-price measures appeared to do almost as well as, and in some cases even better, than the more sophisticated alternatives during the 1987-2001 period.

Hou *et al.* (2011) examined a large number of firm-level characteristics that might explain the cross-sectional and time-series variation in global stock returns. Their analysis included size, D/P, E/P, CF/P, B/P, leverage, and momentum factors using monthly returns for over 27,000 individual stocks from 49 countries from 1981 to 2003. Using cross-sectional Fama and MacBeth (1973) tests of individual stock returns and time-series regression-based tests of multifactor models, the authors confirmed the strong and reliable explanatory power of a value-based factor in global stock returns. In contrast to almost all preceding comparable studies, this factor was surprisingly based on CF/P, and not on B/P, E/P, or D/P.<sup>3</sup> In addition, the incremental explanatory power of a B/P factor-mimicking portfolio, over and above that based on CF/P, turned out to be negligible.

Kallunki (2000) investigated with the Finnish sample data whether the predictability of risk-adjusted stock returns using the ratio of earnings to stock price and the ratio of cash flow earnings to stock price disappears, when accounting-based risk measures, such as ratio of debt to sales and absolute value of the percentage change in sales, were used for risk-adjusting purposes. The empirical results of cross-sectional regressions for the 1975-1990 period indicated that E/P ratios lost their ability to predict stock returns when a firm's financial and business risks were used to measure the risk of its stock. The results also indicated that these accounting-based risk measures can weaken but not totally negate the ability of the cash-flow earnings-to-price ratio to predict risk-adjusted stock returns. Earlier, Kauppi and Martikainen (1994) found evidence that cash flows were observable on the Finnish stock market and simple trading strategies yielded significant profits over and above transaction costs during 1975-1990 period.

.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The CF/P characteristic was proved to be statistically reliable and economically important in the Fama-MacBeth cross-sectional regressions. Moreover, in time-series tests, a global long/short CF/P factor-mimicking portfolio (long in high CF/P stocks and short in low CF/P stocks) explained much of the return differences for country and industry test portfolios, and also, for a wide variety of characteristic-based global test portfolios (see the original article for details) which was not the case for the E/P, D/P, and B/P characteristics and their respective factor-mimicking portfolios.

The recent evidence of CF/P anomaly in the Finnish stock markets is somewhat ambiguous. While value premiums based on CF/P portfolios seemed to be significant for all holding period lengths from one year up to five years during the 1993-2008 period, the performance of middle CF/P portfolio was better than that of high CF/P portfolio on the basis of both tercile and quintile division (see Leivo and Pätäri, 2009 and 2011). Thus, it seemed that CF/P criterion is capable to identify the underperforming stocks of the future, but the highest CF/P stocks did not perform any better than average CF/P stocks, but rather vice versa. The same conclusion was also drawn by Leivo (2012) for the 1993-2009 period. In fact, the middle CF/P portfolios outperformed significantly stock market average over the 1993-2008 period when the tercile portfolio approach was employed in the classification of stocks and portfolios were updated either annually or at 5-year frequency (Leivo and Pätäri, 2009). The same held also for corresponding quintile portfolios reformed annually (Leivo and Pätäri, 2011), and for the 1993-2009 period (Leivo, 2012). Altogether, the results based on CF/P criterion were pretty much in line with the corresponding results of E/P criterion for the recent Finnish sample data. Thus, the recent evidence from the Finnish stock market is somewhat in contrast to the majority of international studies that have found CF/P criterion better than E/P criterion (e.g., see Chan et al., 1993; Lakonishok et al., 1994; Dhatt et al., 2004; Desai et al., 2004; Dissanaike and Lim, 2010).

# 2.3 Earnings Before Interest, Taxes, Depreciations and Amortizations to Enterprise Value (EBITDA/EV) anomaly

Among all the valuation ratios discussed in this thesis, EBITDA/EV is clearly the least examined in the context of academic investment research. Kim and Ritter (1999) noted in their study on initial public offering (IPO) valuation that while all valuation metrics had significant shortcomings, EBITDA/EV generally performed as well as earnings yield, and substantially better when valuing older firms. Damodaran (2006) summarized the benefits of EBITDA/EV in an unpublished study of 550 equity research reports, noting that EBITDA/EV, along with E/P and S/P, were the most common relative valuation multiples used. The reasons for the increasing popularity of EBITDA/EV are in that it can be compared more easily across firms with differing leverage. Including debt is important, as firm debt levels may have an immense impact on the tabulation of EV, particularly for highly-leveraged firms. Another reason for using EBITDA/EV is in its use of operating income before depreciation as the profitability measure. Differences in depreciation

methods across different companies can cause differences in net income but do not affect EBITDA. Of course, the limitations of EBITDA as a measure of profitability should also be borne in mind. However, the recent empirical evidence showed that use of EBITDA/EV for portfolio selection purposes is justified: Controlling for firm size, Loughran and Wellman (2011) found for the sample of U.S. stocks over the 1963-2009 period that top-decile EBITDA/EV portfolio outperformed bottom-decile EBITDA/EV portfolio by more than 5 % per year. When the authors used to create a factor designed to mimic the return differences of high versus low high EBITDA/EV portfolios, it generated a value premium of 5.28 % per year which was significant at the 1 % level. Motivated by the *q*-theory of investment from Tobin (1969) and extended by Cochrane (1991) and Liu *et al.* (2009), Loughran and Wellman (2011) interpreted EBITDA/EV as a proxy for the unlevered investment return, which is in turn positively related to the firm's cost of equity. According to the authors, companies with low EBITDA/EV ratios (signalling high valuation) appear to have lower discount rates and lower subsequent realized stock returns than firms with high EBITDA/EV ratios.

To my best knowledge, the first published journal article that examines the performance of EBITDA/EV-ranked quantile portfolios and compares it to performance of portfolios formed on the basis of more commonly used valuation ratios is Leivo et al. (2009). Among 20 quintile portfolios formed on the basis of four individual valuation ratios (i.e. EBITDA/EV, E/P, B/P and S/P), the best performer in the Finnish stock markets during the 1991-2006 period was the top-quintile EBITDA/EV portfolio. Quite recently, parallel results were also reported in the U.S. stock markets: Gray and Vogel (2012) found that top-quintile EBITDA/EV portfolio has been the best-performing one among 25 quintile portfolios formed on the basis of five individual valuation ratios (i.e. B/P, EBITDA/EV, free cash flow/EV, E/P, B/P and S/P). However, the more recent evidence on the performance of EBITDA/EV-based value strategy in the Finnish stock markets is somewhat mixed. In the studies which also included D/P as one potential valuation ratio, the D/P appeared to be the most efficient portfolio formation criterion (see Leivo and Pätäri, 2009, 2011; Pätäri and Leivo, 2009). For the 1993-2008 sample period and based on the tercile portfolio approach, EBITDA/EV value maintained its position as the best earnings multiple (compared to E/P and CF/P) for holding period lengths from one to three years in risk-adjusted performance comparisons, but lost this status for four- and five-year holding period lengths to CF/P and E/P, respectively (Leivo and Pätäri, 2009). However, the division of terciles into two distinct portfolios (i.e. sextile portfolios) revealed that at least for the one-year holding period length, the top-sextile EBITDA/EV portfolio was outperformed by the second-highest sextile portfolio (Leivo and Pätäri, 2011). The proportion of stocks generated higher returns than stock market average was also distinctly higher for the secondhighest EBITDA/EV sextile portfolio than for the corresponding top-sextile portfolio. These findings indicate that among top-sextile EBITDA/EV stocks there are cases in which the underpricing seems to be spurious or persistent, just like it is among the highest E/P stocks. The main results held also for the one-year longer sample period from 1993 to 2009 (Leivo, 2012). The results of Pätäri and Leivo (2010) showed further that relative valuation differences between value and glamour portfolios were somewhat stable based on EBITDA/EV portfolio formation criterion than based on E/P criterion.

#### 2.4 Book-to-Price (B/P) anomaly

The book value provides a relatively stable, intuitive measure of value that can be compared to the market value of the equity that reflects the market's expectations of the firm's earning power and cash flows. In case that an instinctively mistrust discounted cash flow estimates of value, the book value is a much simpler benchmark for comparison. Value-to-price ratios can be compared across firms for signs of under- or overvaluation. Stocks selling for well below the book value of equity are deemed undervalued and the stocks selling more than book value are considered as overvalued. The relationship between book value and price is however much more complex than that. A firm's price to book value can be determined by a combination of its expected payout ratio, expected growth rate in earnings, riskiness, and return on equity. Higher returns lead to higher price to book value ratio and vice versa. Investors have used the book-to-price relationship for investment strategies in several ways. Some have used high book-to-price ratios as a screen to pick undervalued stocks. Some have combined book-to-price ratios with other fundamentals (e.g., see Piotroski, 2000; Penman and Reggiani, 2012). Book-to-price ratio is sometimes considered even as a proxy for equity risk due to sheer persistence of higher returns earned by high book-to-price stocks (Damodaran, 2002).

To my knowledge, Rosenberg *et al.* (1985) were the first who report significant B/P anomaly in the U.S. stock market over the 1973-1984 period. Chan *et al.* (1991) compared four portfolio formation criterion (i.e., CF/P, E/P, B/P, and size criterion) in the Japanese stock market during the 1971-1988 period and concluded that B/P ratio had the best discriminatory power on value and glamour stocks. In addition, the highest return on both absolute and risk-adjusted basis was also reported for B/P

value quartile portfolios. Parallel results from the U.S. markets were documented by Fama and French (1992) who also found B/P ratio to have the best explanatory power on expected returns in the U.S. markets over the 1963-1990 period. The authors demonstrated further that together with market value of equity (i.e. firm size) these two variables captured the explanatory power of E/P ratio. The dramatic dependence of returns on B/P ratio is independent of beta, suggesting either that high B/P ratio firms are relatively underpriced, or that the B/P ratio is serving as a proxy for a risk factor that effects equilibrium expected returns. After controlling for the size and B/P effects, beta seemed to have no power to explain average security returns indicating that systematic risk seems not to matter, while B/P ratio seems to be capable of predicting future returns. Brennan *et al.* (1998) found that investments based on book-to-market and size resulted in reward-to-risk ratios which were about three times as high as those obtained by investing in the market.

Fama and French (1993) provided evidence that a three-factor model based on factors formed on the size and book-market and beta characteristics explains average returns, and argued that the characteristics compensate for distress risk. Consistently with the results of Fama and French (1992, 1993), Davis (1994) and Chan et al. (1995) provided further evidence that B/P has significant explanatory power on expected stock returns and furthermore, that the performance difference between value and growth stocks cannot be explained by data-selection biases, like suggested by Black (1993) and Kothari et al. (1995), for example. Moreover, Capaul et al. (1993) concluded that value stocks earned excess returns also in other international markets. The returns obtained from portfolios of stocks with low B/P ratios and those obtained from portfolios of stocks with high B/P ratios were compared over the period from January 1981 through June 1992 in six countries; France, Germany, Switzerland, the United Kingdom, Japan and the United States. The results showed the existence of a significant "value-growth factor" in each country. The returns on portfolios formed according to the value-growth factor differed far more from month to month than would be expected if the securities had been selected randomly. Value stocks outperformed growth stocks on average in each country during the period studied, both an absolute and risk adjustment basis. Cross-country correlations of monthly value-growth spreads were small suggesting that any decision to "tilt" a portfolio toward value stocks would have been more effective if done globally. Parallel results were also reported in Fama and French (1998) who compared the value premiums obtained from using four different portfolio-formation criteria (i.e., B/P, CF/P, E/P and D/P) in 13 major stock markets. According to the results, the B/P criterion resulted in the greatest value premium in 6 out of 13 regional stock markets (in the USA, the UK, Belgium, Switzerland, Singapore, and Japan) during the 1975-1995 period. In comparison of the same four valuation

ratios, Bauman et al. (1998) also found the greatest value premium on the basis of B/P ratio for a large pooled sample of international stocks from 21 countries during the 1986-1996 period. However, the total risk-adjusted performance of value quartile portfolios formed on the basis of E/P and D/P ratios were slightly better than that of B/P value portfolio. The superiority of B/P criterion was also documented for the large pan-European data over the 1990-2002 period by Bird and Whitaker (2003) who compared the performance of quintile portfolios formed on the basis of B/P, S/P, E/P and D/P criterion.

Fama and French (1995) sought explanations to the P/B anomaly. They concluded that low B/P firms typically have high average returns on capital, and moreover, that high B/P companies are relatively financially distressed. Their evidence showed that low B/P companies do in fact remained more profitable for at least five years after portfolio formation, but that the growth rates of high B/P firms became more similar to low B/P firms after portfolio formation. They also found evidence that the market does not understand this convergence of earnings growth and that the market merely seems to extrapolate the strong earnings growth of low B/P firms and the weaker growth of high B/P firms. Similar findings were also reported by Chan *et al.* (2003). The market estimates the growth of high B/P stocks too low leading to a mispricing of stocks due to over-pessimistic extrapolation of previous growth. The main conclusion made by Fama and French (1995) and supported by Chen and Zhang (1998), for example, is that high B/P companies are at least some level financially distressed. The interpretation is also consistent with the conclusion on Penman (1996), who used the residual income valuation framework to illustrate expectations embedded in the price of a high book-to-price company.

Piotroski (2000) also supported the argument made by Fama and French (1995) and suggested that as a result, the valuation of these firms should focus on accounting fundamentals such as leverage, liquidity, profitability trends and cash flow adequacy. This finding also suggested that these fundamentals could also be used in discriminating companies within the high B/P set of firms by using financial analysis fundamentals. Previous literature has also shown that an average high B/P firm is in many cases neglected by market and is followed by fewer investors (see e.g., Griffin and Lemon, 2002; Jegadeesh *et al.*, 2004; Doukas *et al.*, 2005). This would also support the effectiveness of fundamental statement analysis on high B/P firms since the market is more likely to misprice companies that are not actively followed by investors. Even as the success of the B/P value strategy has been found to prevail time and time again, there still remains critique towards the strategy. Perhaps the most compelling argument against the B/P strategy is that its success depends

on the outstanding performance of a handful of companies while tolerating the very poor performance of many others (Piotroski, 2000).

Trecartin, Jr. (2001) studied whether B/P systematically explains the cross section of stock returns. The portfolios were formed of stocks included in NYSE, AMEX and NASDAQ during the 1963-1997 sample period. The results indicated that high B/P ratio was positively and significantly related to return in only 43% of the monthly regressions. The author also argued that B/P value portfolio doesn't outperform B/P growth portfolio in a short investment period. However, there was a significant positive correlation between high B/P and stock returns in investment periods of 10 years. The results also implied that while B/P ratio doesn't consistently correlate with expected returns, high B/P might not defend its place as a risk proxy. Ali *et al.* (2003) showed that the bookto-market effect is greater for stocks with higher idiosyncratic return volatility, higher transaction costs, and lower investor sophistication, consistent with the market-mispricing explanation for the anomaly.

The evidence of Penman *et al.* (2007) suggested that the B/P ratio could be decomposed into an enterprise B/P ratio and a leverage component reflecting financial risk. They also showed that as the high B/P ratio is associated with high returns, the leverage component is negatively associated with the returns. This suggests that the B/P value premium could be further enhanced if the leverage related factors could be taken into account in the portfolio formation. However, this result is contrary to the belief that higher amount of leverage and risk should yield higher excess return as a reward for the leverage risk, when in fact the effect is the opposite (for the recent evidence of this, see e.g. Campbell *et al.*, 2008). Penman *et al.* (2007) suggested that this result could be due to one or more of the following explanations; measurement error in leverage, or omitted operating risk factors that are negatively correlated with leverage, or mispricing of leverage by the market. Although the reason for the leverage effect was not explained, it does at least on some level support the conclusion that market mispricing could happen within high B/P companies and that this effect may be exploited.

Fama and French (2007a) traced three sources of value premium; firstly, it is contributed by the value stocks that improve in type because their companies are acquired by other companies or because they earn high returns and migrate to a neutral or growth portfolio. Secondly, the value premium is attributed by poor performance of some growth stocks earning low returns and thus moving to a neutral or value portfolio. The third reason for the value premium is the slightly higher

returns of value stocks that do not migrate compared with the returns of corresponding growth stocks. In another related study, Fama and French (2007b) found the convergence in book-to-price ratios of value and growth portfolios which is caused by mean reversion in profitability and expected returns; B/P of value portfolios tend to rise as some value companies become more profitable, while B/P of growth portfolio falls as growth companies cannot reach the profitability level that is expected from them. <sup>4</sup>

Evidence of B/P anomaly in the Finnish stock markets is relatively weak. Leivo *et al.* (2009) documented somewhat significant B/P anomaly based on the performance of quintile portfolios reformed at 3-year frequency for the 1991-2006 period. In contrast, Pätäri and Leivo (2009) and Leivo and Pätäri (2011) found no evidence of B/P anomaly for either tercile or quintile portfolios reformed at 1-year frequency for the 1993-2008 period. The same conclusion was also drawn by Leivo (2012) for the 1993-2009 period. The results of Leivo and Pätäri (2009) showed that the main findings of B/P effect in Finland were neither dependent on the portfolio formation frequency within range from one year up to five years. For most of the holding period lengths, the best performance were documented for the middle tercile B/P portfolios and the performance difference between value and glamour B/P portfolios were not significant for any of the reformation frequencies.

### 2.5 Dividend yield (D/P) anomaly

The hypothesis that D/P predicts returns has been the subject of considerable theoretical and empirical research (e.g., see Dow, 1920; Ball, 1978). Actually, there are two central competing hypotheses: the tax effect hypothesis and the dividend-neutrality hypothesis. The tax-effect hypothesis proposed by Brennan (1970) states that investors receive higher before-tax, risk-adjusted returns on stocks with higher anticipated dividend yields to compensate for the historically higher taxation of dividend income relative to capital gain income. In contrast, the dividend-neutrality

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> In the Finnish stock markets, Pätäri and Leivo (2010) provided a new insight into the value premium literature by examining the convergence of valuation differences between portfolios of value and glamour stocks over time. Their analysis somewhat reminded that made by Fama and French (2007b) on B/P ratios but authors examined the convergence of many other valuation ratios such as E/P, EV/EBITDA, CF/P, and S/P besides B/P ratios. In addition, the authors applied the migration approach of Fama and French (2007a) by examining the degree of stock shifts between fraction portfolios.

hypothesis proposed by Black and Scholes (1974) states that if investors required higher returns for holding higher yield stocks, firms would adjust their dividend policy to restrict the quantity of dividends paid, lower their cost of capital, and thus, increase their share price. Correspondingly, if investors required a lower return on high-yield stocks, value maximizing firms would increase their dividend pay-outs to increase their share price. In equilibrium, value maximizing behaviour would result in an aggregate supply of dividends to equal the aggregate demand for dividend income from investors that prefer dividends at least as much as capital gains. As a consequence, predictable relationship between anticipated dividend yields and risk-adjusted stock returns should exist.

Research on differences in returns among stocks with high and low anticipated long-run dividend yields has been mixed. In their seminal study, Black and Scholes (1974) found no statistically reliable link between a portfolio's monthly return and its long-run dividend yield. In contrast, Litzenberger and Ramaswamy (1982) reported positive but non-linear association between U.S. stock returns and dividend yields during the 1940-1980 period. Rozeff (1984) and Fama and French (1988) also argued for the feasibility of dividend yields in predicting stock returns. Blume (1980) and Keim (1985) documented an U-shaped relationship between risk-adjusted returns and dividend yields, with zero-yield stocks realizing larger returns than dividend-paying stocks and higher yield stocks realizing larger risk-adjusted returns than lower yield stocks. Christie (1990) showed that the anomalous zero-yield result is largely due to the performance of stocks with a value of less than two dollars during the 1930s. By comparing the returns of zero-yield stocks during the 1945-1986 period to the performance of dividend-paying stocks of equal market capitalization, Christie found the returns of zero-yield stocks significantly lower than those of dividend-paying stocks. Though his evidence indicated a positive relationship between dividend yields and returns, Christie argued that the magnitude of the effect is too large to be explained by a tax effect and might be better explained by the market overestimating the prospects of non-dividend-paying stocks.

Many authors have also documented the relationship between value premium and dividends. E.g. Chen *et al.* (2008) reported the expected HML return of 6.1 % per annum in the U.S. markets, consisting of an expected-dividend-growth component of 4.4 % and an expected-dividend-to-price component of 1.7 % during the 1941-2005 period. A major seminal US study by Black and Scholes (1974) found no effect that higher dividend yields would have generated higher returns, but their study has been criticized later on statistical grounds. For example, Litzenberger and Ramaswamy (1979) strongly challenged their results and criticized their methods suggesting that high yields and high returns go together as well as Elton *et al.* (1983) who demonstrated that dividend yield had a

large and statistically significant impact on return above and beyond that explained by the zero-beta form of the CAPM. Their study covered the period 1937-76, but also looked at 5-year subperiods during which only two of them, the overall finding did not hold. Keim (1985, 1986) found a significant relationship between dividend yield and abnormal returns in the U.S. market.

In UK, Levis (1989) examined the relationship between yields and return during the 1961-85 period and found that high yield and high return were monotonically positively related. Generally, the yield effect was the strongest in relative to size, E/P and share price. Morgan and Thomas (1998) found that in the UK over the 1975-93 period, high yield and high returns, over the following five years, go together. Chan and Chui (1996) found for the period 1973-90 that high yields were related to higher returns, while Miles and Timmermann (1996) for the 1979-91 period found no relationship.

Naranjo et al. (1998) found that actual and risk-adjusted returns for NYSE stocks increased with increasing dividend yield during the period 1963-94. Zero-dividend stocks had higher actual returns than low-yield stocks, but using a Fama-French risk adjustment they earned the lowest returns. According the authors, tax effects could not account for their findings. Fama and French (1998) compared the value premiums obtained from using four different portfolio-formation criteria (i.e., B/P, CF/P, E/P and D/P) in 13 major stock markets. According to the results, the D/P criterion resulted in the greatest value premium in only one out of 13 regional stock markets (i.e. in France) during the 1975-1995 period. Moreover, the value premium based on D/P criterion was statistically significant in only two regional markets (i.e. in Japan and in France). Instead, a comparison of the same four valuation ratios by Bauman et al. (1998) documented the greatest value premium based on the D/P ratio for a large pooled sample of international stocks whose fiscal year end was in March. However, the total risk-adjusted performance of value quartile portfolios formed on the basis of CF/P and B/P ratios were slightly better than that of D/P value portfolio for this subsample. Instead, when the subsample consisted of the stocks whose fiscal year ended in December the best total risk-adjusted performance was shared with E/P and D/P value quartile portfolios. Thus, it seems that the relative performance of value portfolios based on different valuation ratios is also dependent on the timepoint of fiscal year end of sample companies (Most of the studies have been conducted based on the sample that includes only the companies whose fiscal year equals the calendar year). The superiority of D/P criterion over the other individual valuation criteria has also been documented in the Greek stock market during the 1995-2002 period (Kyriazis and Diacogiannis, 2007).<sup>5</sup>

There are many arguments why high-dividend yield stocks might produce abnormal returns. The total return on a stock will be its initial dividend yield plus its growth rate. In efficient market, if all stocks with the same risk offer the same total return, the low-growth stocks will have to offer higher initial yields. However, if investors are incapable at assessing growth prospects correctly, it is possible that the growth rate assumed for high-growth-rate stocks will be too high, and that for low-growth-rate stocks will be too low. This in turn, implies that high-yield stocks might be expected to offer a higher total return. Investors might also simply just understate the importance of initial yield and focus too much on growth. Different taxation on dividends and capital gains might also have impact on phenomenon. U.S. tax law has treated capital gains more favorably than dividends, and therefore taxable investors may have demanded a higher pretax return on higher-yielding stocks to compensate for the increased tax liability. However in Finland, the tax laws have been different, and avoir fiscal system made dividends practically tax-free for the Finnish investors during the 1990-2004 period. In year 2005 tax treatments changed and for the individual investors, 30 % of dividends are tax free and 70 % of dividends are taxed based on fixed capital income tax rate (that has varied between 28 % - 29 %).

The very strong D/P anomaly has been documented in the Finnish markets during the past two decades. Pätäri and Leivo (2009), Leivo and Pätäri (2009, 2011) and Leivo (2012) have all compared value premiums between quantile portfolios formed on the basis of six individual valuation ratios (i.e. E/P, etc.). In all of these the greatest value premium was generated on the basis of D/P criterion. Moreover, the best risk-adjusted performance among all quantile portfolios were documented for top D/P portfolios in all comparisons. Furthermore, Leivo and Pätäri (2011) showed that selecting value stocks based on the D/P criterion has resulted in the greatest proportion of stocks that have provided higher total return during the subsequent 1-year holding period than the stock market average. In fact, the proportion has been exceptionally high (i.e. 54.3 % during the 1993-2008 period), since the previous international evidence has typically shown proportions lower than 50 % for value-only strategies (e.g., see Piotroski, 2000; Rousseau and van Rensburg, 2004).

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> In addition to studies on D/P anomaly, many papers have evidenced the outperformance of the so-called "Dogs of the Dow" –strategies or their variants in different regional markets (e.g., see McQueen *et al.*, 1997 for U.S. evidence, Visscher and Filbeck, 2003, for Canadian evidence, and Rinne and Vähämaa, 2011, for Finnish evidence). Furthermore, e.g., Martikainen *et al.* (1993) documented that a simple long/short trading strategy in which stocks with increased dividends were bought and stocks with dividend cuts were sold resulted in abnormal returns in the Finnish stock market during the 1974-1987 period.

#### 2.6 Sales-to-Price (S/P) anomaly

During the recent years, analysts have increasingly turned to use alternative multiples to value companies besides widely used and intuitively appealing earnings and book value multiples. Firms that have negative earnings and that are young, sales multiples offer a tool to value such companies. Sales are very difficult to manipulate through accounting. In addition, sales multiples are not as volatile as earnings multiples, and hence are less likely to affected by year-to-year swings in a firm's fortunes. Moreover, earnings are much more sensitive to economic changes than sales. As with other ratios, other things remaining equal, companies that trade at low sales multiples are considered as cheap relative to companies that trade at high multiples of revenues. The biggest disadvantage of using sales multiples is that if a firm generates high sales growth while losing simultaneously significant amounts of money, the use of sales can lull the investor assigning high values to such firms. Beside high sales, a firm has to generate earnings and cash flows for it to have value. The failure to control for company-specific characteristics in costs and profit margins can lead to misleading valuations (Damodaran, 2002).

To my knowledge, Fisher (1984) was the first to discuss the role of the S/P ratio in stock selection. A bit later, Senchack and Martin (1987) examined the relative performance of high S/P ratio and high E/P ratio strategies for the period 1975-1984 and results suggested that high S/P ratio stocks produced abnormal risk-adjusted returns compared both on low S/P ratio stocks and market return. However, high E/P ratio stocks dominated high S/P ratio stocks on both absolute and risk-adjusted return basis. The relative performance of the high E/P ratio stocks was more consistent than that of the high S/P ratio stocks. Instead, Barbee et al. (1996) found that S/P ratios explains U.S. stock returns better than corresponding B/P ratios or firm size during the 1979-91 period. The authors also examined the debt-equity ratio but found that sales-to-price was the only variable with a consistently significant role in explaining returns. They stated further that S/P captures the role of the debt-equity ratio in explaining the returns. Instead, Mukherji et al. (1997) who found evidence of S/P and B/P anomaly in the Korean stock markets during the 1982-1993 period showed that the positive relationship of the debt-equity ratio persisted in portfolios formed on the basis of B/P and S/P. Suzuki (1998) studied the S/P ratio as a simple investment factor in portfolio formation in the Tokyo Stock exchange during the 1983-1996 period and showed its superiority as a valuation multiple. Before Suzuki, many papers had pointed out the existence of a B/P of equity anomaly in Japan. Suzuki found that by using the S/P ratio in portfolio formation over a 14-year period not only could generate abnormal returns, but also could beat the E/P and the B/P strategy in 6 years within the 14-year period. He also showed that the S/P ratio was especially meaningful during periods of economic recovery. In contrast to the results of Suzuki (1998), Guerard, Jr. *et al.* (2006) reported that S/P ratio has lost its formerly-documented prediction power in the Japanese stock markets during the 1993-2001 period.

Dhatt *et al.* (1999) found that for small-cap U.S. stocks, S/P is a better indicator of value than B/P, which in turn is superior to E/P. However, value portfolios formed on the basis of all three ratios provided the best risk-return characteristics. Bird and Casavecchia (2007a, 2007b) documented the superiority of S/P ratios in the European markets during the 1989-2004 period. Barbee *et al.* (2008) found that in the U.S. stock markets S/P has the most consistently significant positive relation and highest explanatory power with subsequent annual returns. According the authors, the results suggested that S/P is an undervalued value measure, since investors may tend to focus more on E/P and B/P than on CF/P or S/P, resulting the information contained in the first two multiples being more efficiently incorporated into stock returns than the information in the last two multiples.

Though S/P anomaly is well documented in international studies, the Finnish evidence of S/P anomaly is somewhat mixed: Leivo *et al.* (2009) documented somewhat significant S/P anomaly based on the performance of quintile portfolios reformed at 3-year frequency for the 1991-2006 period. In contrast, Pätäri and Leivo (2009) and Leivo and Pätäri (2011) found no evidence of S/P anomaly for either tercile or quintile portfolios reformed at 1-year frequency for the 1993-2008 period, respectively. According the results of these two studies, the best performing S/P portfolios have been the middle portfolio among tercile portfolios and the second lowest S/P portfolio among quintile portfolios.<sup>6</sup> For the same sample, the results of Leivo and Pätäri (2009) revealed that the middle S/P portfolio remained the best tercile S/P portfolio for the holding period lengths from one up to five years. In the light of the above-cited results it seems that the significance of S/P anomaly in the Finnish stock markets, if it exists at all, seems to depend heavily on the sample period employed.

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> The S/P quintile portfolio results of Leivo (2012) are also parallel to Leivo and Pätäri (2011) for one year longer sample period (i.e. from 1993 to 2009).

# 2.7 Composite value measures

The idea of combining value indicators to enhance the value portfolio performance and/or value premium is not new (e.g., see Graham, 1973). The combination may add value if the indicators are not highly correlated. However, the current literature on the empirical tests of the use of composite value measures is relatively scarce. To my best knowledge, Dhatt *et al.* (1999) were the first who reported the results of performance comparisons between value portfolios based on both individual valuation ratios and a composite value measure. The authors formed tercile portfolios of stocks included in The Russell 2000 Index, which is the commonly used U.S. small-cap benchmark, on the basis E/P, B/P and S/P ratios. The portfolios based on composite value measure were formed by combining stocks with consistently low values by all the three aforementioned valuation ratios into one portfolio, consistently medium positive values into another portfolio, and consistently high positive values into a third portfolio. All the portfolios were rebalanced each year on the basis of end-of-June ratios for the stocks in the reconstituted Russell 2000 over the 1979-1997 sample period. According to the results, the composite value portfolio performed best on the basis of both absolute and risk-adjusted returns among all the portfolios compared. Dhatt *et al.* (1999) showed further that the results were robust to January effect and to the exclusion of low-liquidity stocks.

Chan and Lakonishok (2004) examined the efficiency of combining B/P, CF/P, E/P, and S/P ratios. By employing robust regression methods, they first estimated cross-sectional models that predicted future yearly returns from beginning-year values of each valuation ratio. The estimated slope coefficients determined the weights to be applied to valuation ratio to arrive at the composite value measure. The authors tested the efficiency of the above-described portfolio formation criterion with the three different samples of which the first consisted of six largest-cap deciles of NYSE stocks, the second of the stocks that were in the sixth through nine deciles in the same stock exchange, and the third of largest-cap stocks in the MSCI EAFE Europe (Europe/Australasia/Far East) Index of non-U.S. countries. The sample periods were 1969-2001 for U.S. stocks and 1989-2001 non-U.S. stocks. For all the samples examined, Chan and Lakonishok (2004) concluded that the use of composite value measure boosted the performance of the value strategy. The authors showed further that the outperformance was not explained by greater risk of value portfolios.

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Stocks with negative values for any of the three valuation ratios were excluded from the sample. The average number of companies included in three portfolios formed on the basis of the composite value measure decreased to 536 (in total), indicating that the majority of companies did not have consistently low, medium, or high values of the three ratios used as the basis of the composite value measure.

Unfortunately, Chan and Lakonishok (2004) did not report the results based on individual valuation ratios, which would have been an interesting extension for comparability purposes. In contrast, Dhatt *et al.* (2004) did so for the same valuation ratios employed by Chan and Lakonishok (2004). However, Dhatt *et al.* (2004) used somewhat simpler methodology in constructing the quintile portfolios instead of decile portfolios employed by Chan and Lakonishok (2004). At the first stage, Dhatt *et al.* (2004) standardized each of the valuation ratios of a firm in a particular year by the median value of that ratio for all the firms in their final sample in that year. At the second stage, composite value measures were computed as simple averages of different combinations of these relative valuation ratios. According to their results, the highest return during the 1980-1999 period was reported for the value portfolio that was based on the combination of E/P and S/P ratios. Although the best risk-return trade-off, as well as the lowest risk, was documented for CF/P criterion, Dhatt *et al.* (2004) concluded that using composite value measures can expand the set of efficient portfolios, enabling investors to achieve a wider range of risk-return trade-offs.

The different methodological approach was introduced by Piotroski (2000) who examined whether the performance of B/P-based strategy can be boosted by accounting-based fundamental variables. Piotroski used the F\_Score that is a composite score given to a company each year. It is the sum of nine individual binary signals that are used as measures for three areas of the firm's financial condition. The areas are profitability, financial leverage or liquidity, and operating efficiency. The aggregate signal, F\_Score, is designed to measure the overall quality, or the strength of the firm's position. Piotroski (2000) tested the F\_Score and its ability to separate "winners from losers" within a broad portfolio of high B/P companies. The mean return of the low B/P portfolio could be increased by 7.5 percentage points p.a. to 13.5 %. Also the entire distribution was shifted more to the right. In addition the long/short strategy was tested and it was able to generate a 23 % annual return between the 1976-1996 period. In general, the results were very interesting because the observed patterns of return are inconsistent with common notions of risk.

Bird and Gerlach (2006) also examined the extent to which fundamental accounting information can be used to better identify truly undervalued stocks to enhance profit in a simple value strategy. Gibbs sampling and model averaging were used in a logistic regression setting to enhance a forecast value investment strategy applied to stock markets in the US, the UK and Australia. According to the results, it appears that the stocks in the value portfolio that are most likely to show positive market-corrected returns can be predicted more successfully through the use of fundamental company accounting information.

Chen and Zhang (2007) provided theory and evidence showing how accounting variables explain cross-sectional stock returns by providing accounting based model that holds greater promise in explaining cross-sectional price movements than models developed in the finance literature that are based on common risk factors. According to authors, stock returns, as changes in value, are related to changes in expectations about the firm's scale and profitability in future periods. The authors identified the following four cash-flow-related factors for explaining returns: earnings yield, capital investment, and changes in profitability and growth opportunities. According to the results, the set of cash-flow-related factors, profitability-related information (earnings yield and change in profitability) accounts much more return variation in the pooled sample and is thus empirically more important than are scale-related factors (capital investment and change in growth opportunities). Their theory however shows further that earnings variables alone are not adequate, and that returns should also depend on both balance sheet data (such as invested capital) and the characteristics of the firm's external environment (such as growth opportunities and the interest rate). Leong et al. (2009) tested the efficiency of economic value-added-to-market value (EVAM), which can be seen as a hybrid of E/P and B/P ratios, as portfolio selection criterion. Their results showed that the highest EVAM ratio performed the best during 1995-2004 period in the U.S. stock markets.

An unique composite value measure is suggested by Athanassakos (2011a) who employed the multi-stage selection criteria for the sample Canadian stocks. At the first stage, the stocks were divided into quartile portfolios on the basis of E/P ratios. At the second stage, each E/P quartile portfolios were further subdivided into four quartiles based on B/P ratios. This process was repeated for each year of the sample. As a result, 16 quantile portfolios, of which the first (Q1) consists of the highest E/P - highest B/P stocks and the last (Q16) of the lowest E/P - lowest B/P stocks, were generated. At the third stage, to determine the truly undervalued stocks, each stock in Q1 portfolio were individually valued using two valuation criteria that were the net replacement value of each company's assets (called Net Asset Value, NAV), and Free Cash Flow –based valuation (called Earnings Power Value). Based on these two values, the intrinsic value for each Q1 company were calculated using both quantitative and qualitative decisions rules (for details, see the original article). The upper price limit for stocks to be included in the portfolio of truly undervalued stocks was set to 2/3 of the intrinsic value allowing for 1/3 margin of safety. When comparing the performance of the former portfolio to that of the naïve value portfolio (i.e. that based on the

selection criterion of the second stage), Athanassakos documented significant enhancement for the second subperiod from 1999 to 2007.

The Finnish evidence on the performance of composite value measures is quite strong. Leivo et al. (2009) compared the performance of three composite value portfolios formed by the 2-combination of B/P and EBITDA/EV ratios, the 3-combination of B/P, EBITDA/EV, and S/P ratios and inverse of the Graham ratio (i.e. the product of E/P and B/P). The first two of these appeared to be improve risk-return ratios of value portfolios compared to those generated by the best value portfolios based on individual valuation ratios, but the improvement were mostly statistically insignificant. In addition, the authors noted that abnormal returns of value portfolios formed on the basis of composite value measures were generally less sensitive to changing stock market sentiment than those based on individual valuation ratios. However, when Leivo and Pätäri (2009) included also dividend yield as one individual valuation criterion, the performance differences between such portfolios that were formed on the basis of composite value measures including dividend yield and those based only on dividend yield were marginal for all holding period lengths from one year up to five years. The similar results for the same sample period were also documented in Leivo and Pätäri (2011) for one-year holding period length using quintile portfolio division, while the results of Leivo and Pätäri (2009) were for tercile portfolios. Pätäri et al. (2010) tested the applicability of DEA on value portfolio selection based on input and factors derived from the components of three traditional valuation ratios and later on, Pätäri et al. (2012) examined the added value of using DEA as formation criteria for equity portfolio selection. Their study includes two criteria that are based on composite value-only measures. According to the results for the 1994-2010, these two criteria were very selective in identifying the best-performing stocks of the future to the extent that not only the DEA glamour tercile portfolio but also the DEA middle tercile portfolio was significantly outperformed by the corresponding value portfolio.

# 2.8 Explanations to value premium

The reasons for the value premium are widely discussed in the financial literature. E.g., Fama and French (1993) suggested that the value premium exists to compensate investors for the risks inherent in value stocks relative to growth stocks, which is not captured by the traditional Capital Asset Pricing Model (henceforth CAPM) of Sharpe (1964), Lintner (1965) and Mossin (1966). Using the neoclassical framework with rational expectations and competitive equilibrium, Zhang (2005) came to a parallel conclusion, but explained the value premium with the difference between value and growth companies in their ability to adjust the level of production to match the demand in varying economic conditions. This, in turn, results in a countercyclical price of risk and cyclical behavior of unconditional market betas of value and growth stocks, which predicts countercyclical variation in the value premium. Petkova and Zhang (2005) also showed that the economic fundamentals of value firms respond negatively to economic shocks while the same does not hold for growth stocks. They interpreted this as evidence that value stocks are riskier than growth stocks, at least in the adverse states of the world. Gulen et al. (2011) also agreed that the value premium is explained by less flexibility of value firms in adjusting to worsening economic conditions compared to growth firms. Instead, Fong (2012) found no evidence of macroeconomic risks explaining the value premium.

In contrast, Gerakos and Linnainmaa (2012) stated that the value premium exists because high B/P portfolios have high expected returns simply because they are riskier than low B/P portfolios. They showed that changes in the market value of equity also give book-to-market ratios predictive power over future returns, while the changes in the book of equity do not do that. Therefore, the Fama-French HML factor consists of a priced and unpriced risk component. Because every factor has just one price of risk, the Fama-French 3-factor model gives the appearance of high risk-adjusted returns for strategies that covary negatively with the unpriced component. This finding explains why the three-factor model appears to price anomalies associated with earnings-to-price and cash flow-to-price ratios. When Gerakos and Linnainmaa (2012) adjusted these ratios to not overlap with the unpriced part of the HML factor, these anomalies resurfaced. In contrast, Lettau and Wachter (2007) proposed a dynamic risk-based model which they tested using simulated portfolio sortings and found that growth firms (long-horizon equity) covary more with the discount rate than do value firms (short-horizon equity) which covary more with cash flows. They concluded that value stocks do not appear to be riskier than growth stocks.

Doukas *et al.* (2002) provided evidence that the value premium is not explained by overoptimism in analysts' EPS forecasts<sup>8</sup>, thus rejecting their non-risk based explanation of the value premium. In the follow-up paper, the same authors found support for the risk factor explanation as the source of value premium when using the standard deviation of analysts' EPS forecasts as a risk proxy (Doukas *et al.*, 2004). The authors suggested that the abnormal returns of value stocks reflect compensation for higher risk as measured by the dispersion in analysts' EPS forecasts.

Fama and French (1992) reported in their seminal study that size and B/P explain most of the anomalous differences in future stock returns. However, Daniel and Titman (1997) showed that, after controlling for size and B/P, returns are not strongly related to market betas calculated on the basis of the Fama-French 3-factor model (for a contrary view on this inference, see Davis et al., 2000). In contrast, Ang and Chen (2007) argued that when the tests allow for time-varying market betas, no evidence against a CAPM story for the value premium is left. However, Fama and French (2006) showed that the inferences of Ang and Chen (2007) were valid only for the 1926-1963 period, and furthermore that during the 1963-2004 period the value stocks have had lower betas than growth stocks, contrary to CAPM requirements for explaining the value premium. Moreover, contradicting the findings of Loughran (1997), Fama and French (2006) showed that the value premium is not restricted to small-cap stocks by rejecting CAPM pricing formed on size, B/P, and market beta during the 1928-2004 period. Daniel and Titman (2006) argued that the B/P effect is driven by overreaction to the part of the B/P ratio that is not related to accounting fundamentals. The other part of the B/P ratio that is related to the fundamentals does not appear to forecast returns, thus casting doubts on the explanation according to which violations of the CAPM could be captured by controlling for size and B/P effects that have been interpreted to represent proxies for distress risk by the advocates of market efficiency.

An alternative explanation for the value premium is based on the irrational behavior of investors, first proposed in the 1930s by Graham and Dodd (1934). Investors extrapolate past earnings too far out into the future, which drives the prices of the stocks of better-performing firms to too high a level, and the prices of the stocks of poorly performing firms to too low a level. The differentials in predicted returns come as a surprise to investors. According to Jacobs and Levy (1988) anomalies such as residual reversal and trends in analysts' earnings estimates appear to be true evidence of stock market inefficiency. Other effects, such as high E/P and small size, appear nonstationary; they

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> The overoptimism in analysts' EPS forecasts has been documented all over the world (e.g., see Ackert and Athanassakos, 1997 for the U.S. evidence, Capstaff *et al.*, 2001 for the European evidence).

may be anomalous, or they might represent empirical return regularities only in a broader macroeconomic framework. The idea of Graham and Dodd at the irrational behavior of investors was re-launched within the theory of investments in the form of DeBondt and Thaler's (1985) overreaction hypothesis. The conclusion was supported by the results of Chopra et al. (1992), and Lakonishok et al. (1994) who applied it in the context of examining the value premium and draw conclusions parallel to the reasoning of the original authors. Moreover, Lakonishok et al. found little, if any, support for the view that value strategies are fundamentally riskier than glamour strategies. These results can be seen as a major setback for the efficient markets hypothesis. Later on, Haugen (1995), and Haugen and Baker (1996) came to same conclusion and stated that since the differences in realized returns are too large to be credibly called risk premiums and since the high return value portfolios are not relatively risky, the results also strongly favour the pricing bias hypothesis. Also according to Barberis et al. (1998), the naïve extrapolation of past growth causes stock prices to overreact in both directions, resulting in return predictability on the basis of valuation ratios. The results of Brennan et al. (1998), which the Sharpe ratio of the B/P factor calculated on the basis of a time-series of return differences between high and low B/P portfolios was more than 50 per cent higher than that of the market, also supports the explanation of pricing irrationalities. Such a great performance difference indicates that the evidence on the predictability of returns from B/P ratios at least partially supports behavioral non-risk-based explanations. According to Daniel et al. (2001), investors' overconfidence induces overreaction, and extreme B/P ratios are caused by overreactions to private signals. Phalippou (2008) found neither support for risk-based explanations of the value premium, but showed that the value premium is concentrated in stocks mostly held by individual investors and that, consistent with behavioral explanations, the value premium declines from the lowest to the largest institutional ownership decile.

The recent results of Piotroski and So (2012) also support mispricing explanations. They found that prices of glamour (value) firms reflect systematically optimistic (pessimistic) expectations. Thus, the value/glamour effect should be concentrated (absent) among firms with (without) ex ante identifiable expectation errors. Classifying firms based upon whether expectations implied by current pricing multiples are congruent with the strength of their fundamentals, the authors documented that value/glamour returns and ex post revisions to market expectations are predictably concentrated (absent) among firms with ex ante biased (unbiased) market expectations. In contrast, Arnott and Hsu (2008) argued that both size and value anomalies are driven by pricing noise but the authors did not excluded the possibility that such anomalies could also be partially driven by hidden risk factors or behavioral irrationalities. Athannassakos (2011b) concluded that both risk and

mispricing may have a role in explaining the value premium, although the scale of the evidence seems to be inclined to mispricing hypothesis. As the ongoing academic debate on the reasons for the value premium indicates, the research community is still far from consensus in this respect.

A third group of explanations for the existence of the value premium relies on data snooping bias or other biases related to data (e.g., see Black, 1993; Conrad and Kaul, 1993; Ball *et al.*, 1995; Kothari *et al.*, 1995; Conrad *et al.*, 2003). However, in the light of recent results on the value premium documented all around the world, it seems unlikely that all of the evidence of its existence might be explained by these types of biases (e.g., see Markowitz and Xu, 1994; Guerard, Jr. *et al.*, 2012).

### 3 INTERACTION OF VALUE AND MOMENTUM ANOMALIES

# 3.1 Momentum anomalies

Numerous studies have identified the existence of momentum on stock returns (e.g., see Jegadeesh and Titman, 1993; Chan et al., 1996; Chan et al., 2000; Rouwenhorst, 1998; Grundy and Martin, 2001; Jegadeesh and Titman, 2001; Lewellen, 2002; Eakins and Stansell, 2004; Patro and Wu, 2004). There has been debate over whether or not momentum represents mispricing (e.g., see Barberis et al., 1998; Hirshleifer and Subrahmanyam, 1998; Hong and Stein, 1999) or an unobserved risk factor (e.g., see Conrad and Kaul, 1998). A number of possible explanations for momentum effect have been advanced. They include a behavior theory that abnormal returns based on momentum strategies occur because of inherent biases in the way investors interpret information (Barberis et al., 1998; Hirshleifer and Subrahmanyam, 1998; Hong and Stein, 1999). Several researchers have reported success with momentum investing. Moskowitz and Grinblatt (1999) found a strong and prevalent momentum effect in industry components of stock returns and that momentum strategies were profitable even after controlling for size, book-to-market equity, individual stock momentum, and potential microstructure influences. Similarly, according to O'Neal (2000) strategies attempting to exploit industry stock price momentum using sector mutual funds may provide superior risk-adjusted returns. Some researchers suggest that the profitability of momentum strategies may still be consistent with market efficiency in that the returns are simply compensating investors for as yet unidentified risk (Conrad and Kaul, 1998). However, some scholars have found that momentum does not persist, since mean-reversion effect exists in the stock market from time to time and severely decreases returns on continuous momentum investing. Thus, a momentum investor would perform much better if he managed to avoid investing on momentum during mean-reversion periods. Some evidence has been found that the alternation of momentum and mean-reversion periods would stem from stock market sentiment. Therefore, it is interesting to study whether there is a difference in performance of momentum strategies between different stock market sentiments. This research question is appropriate also because momentum effect has been attributed to the fact that investors underreact to the release of firm-specific information, and earnings announcements carry an associated momentum effect, and on the other hand, because stock market sentiment might have at least some impact on the speed of investors' reaction on earnings announcement.

### 3.2 Explanations to momentum anomalies

Analogous to the explanations given for the value premium, also the profitability of momentum strategies has been attempted to explain by many separate lines of research. The first suggests that momentum profits are just a trade-off for higher risk, and can be explained by some control variables, such as market beta (e.g., Conrad and Kaul, 1998), B/P (e.g., Daniel and Titman, 1999), size (e.g., Lesmond et al., 2004), industry effects (e.g., Moskowitz and Grinblatt, 1999), growth options (e.g., Berk et al., 1999; Sagi and Seasholes, 2007), macroeconomic factors (e.g., Chordia and Shivakumar, 2002; Liu and Zhang, 2008), a stochastic discount factor (e.g., see Ahn et al., 2003), or the time-variability of risk (e.g., see Li et al., 2008). The other stream of research relies on behavioral and cognitive biases to explain momentum profits (e.g., see Daniel et al. 1998; Barberis et al., 1998; Hong and Stein, 1999; Lewellen and Shanken, 2002; Grinblatt and Han, 2005). Daniel et al. (1998) suggested that the investors are overconfident about their private information and overreact to it. On one hand, investors attribute successes to their own skill more than they should, and on the other hand, attribute failures to external noise more than they should. As a consequence, investors' overconfidence increases following the arrival of confirming news. This, in turn, increases the initial overreaction and causes the short-term price momentum. In contrast, a competing behavioral theory of Hong and Stein (1999) is based on initial underreaction to information which is caused by gradual diffusion of private information through the market place.

The underreaction and the subsequent positive autocorrelation in returns attracts the momentum traders who base their investment decisions only in past price data. Their increased trading activity leads to an eventual overreaction to news. The third category of theories explaining the momentum profitability is related to market frictions such as trading costs (e.g., see Lesmond *et al.*, 2004; Korajczyk and Sadka, 2004), whereas the fourth stems from the cross-sectional dispersion in expected returns (e.g., see Bulkley and Nawosah, 2009; Stivers and Sun, 2010). Given the wealth of alternative explanations, the research community clearly disagrees on the reasons for the existence of price momentum, yet agrees unanimously that it does exist.

# 3.3 Empirical evidence of value-momentum interaction

Over the last 30 years, loads of empirical evidence related to the success of both value and momentum strategies have been documented in the financial literature. Motivated by these findings, some researchers have started to examine combinations of these two approaches as a basis of investment strategy. To my knowledge, the interaction of value and momentum strategies was first discussed by Asness (1997) who concluded that momentum and value are negatively correlated across stocks, yet each is positively related to the cross-section of average stock returns. According the author, pursuing a value strategy entails, to some extent, buying firms with poor momentum. Equivalently, buying firms with good momentum entails, to some extent, pursuing a poor-value strategy. In most cases, holding momentum constant leads to a more effective value strategy. That is, the value strategy works best when not forced to short the effective momentum strategy. Similarly, holding value constant leads to a generally superior momentum strategy. Parallel to the results of Asness (1997), Bird and Whitaker (2004) reported that the best long-only (i.e. no short sales allowed) portfolio performance in the major European stock markets (i.e. France, Germany, Italy, Netherlands, Spain, Switzerland and the UK) during the 1990-2002 period would have been achieved by investing in value-loser stocks if a six-month price momentum had been used as a timing indicator and B/P as a value indicator. The added value of the combination strategy stemmed from the fact that value-loser stocks are late in the negative momentum cycle to the extent that they will soon turn around and start generating positive abnormal returns. Bird and Casavecchia (2006) provided further insights into the momentum life cycle for European stocks by demonstrating that a pickup in momentum for a value stock provides a good early warning sign of a sustained improvement in the stock's fundamental and market performance.

Instead, Bird and Casavecchia (2007a) reported a significant outperformance of value-winner stocks against both the stock market and value-loser stocks when price momentum was used as a sentiment indicator and S/P as a value indicator in the European stock markets during the 1989-2004 period. The authors also examined the added value of a financial health indicator (2007a) and that of a combined earnings momentum indicator as timing indicators, but find their impact on the value premium to be marginal compared to that provided by price momentum indicators. However, the results of Bird and Casavecchia (2007b) showed that at least for value strategies based on individual valuation ratios, the performance improvement could be increased including not only price momentum but also the acceleration rate of the price momentum.

Brown *et al.* (2008) examined the performance of value and momentum strategies and the combined value-momentum strategies in four representative Asian markets (Hong Kong, Korea, Singapore, and Taiwan) during the 1990–2005 sample period. Best value and momentum strategies were combined by a long portfolio of stocks classified as both value stocks and winner stocks, and a short portfolio of stocks classified as both growth and loser stocks. According to their findings, the combination of best value and momentum strategies did not provided a significant improvement over the value or the momentum strategy evaluated separately. In contrast, Bettman *et al.* (2009) found fundamental and technical analysis as complements rather than substitutes in equity valuation models. The authors proposed an equity valuation model integrating both fundamental and momentum indicators. Their results for the U.S. sample data over the 1983-2002 period confirmed the complementary nature of fundamental and technical analysis by showing that, although each performs well in isolation, models integrating both have superior explanatory power. In this sense, their results were consistent with the recent results from the European stock markets (e.g., see Bird and Casavecchia, 2007a and 2007b).

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> The original sample consisted of almost 8,000 firms from 15 European countries: France, Italy, The Netherlands, Germany, Spain, United Kingdom, Belgium, Portugal, Ireland, Austria, Greece, Norway, Sweden, Denmark, and Finland.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> Each year the authors build a model based on 24 accounting variables to predict the probability that the reported earnings per share for the next financial year will be greater the current year's EPS and then use this probability as the measure of each stock's financial strength.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> The results of Chordia and Shivakumar (2006) showed that price momentum is actually related to the systematic component of earnings momentum.
<sup>12</sup> The authors defined the momentum based on previous six month rate of return, and the rate as these returns are

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> The authors defined the momentum based on previous six month rate of return, and the rate as these returns are chancing is used as an acceleration rate of the price momentum.

Recently, Fama and French (2012) examined size, value and momentum in international stock markets. According the results, value premium existed in all four regions (North America, Europe. Japan and Asia Pacific) and there were strong momentum returns in all regions, except in Japan. Except for Japan, value premiums were larger for small stocks. The winner minus loser spreads in momentum returns also decreased from smaller to bigger stocks. In Japan there was no hint of momentum return in any size group.

Leivo and Pätäri (2011) provided evidence that taking account of price momentum besides the relative valuation of stocks would have added value to an investor in the Finnish stock market during the 1993-2008 sample period. Among the best-performing portfolios, the performance improvement resulting from the inclusion of a momentum indicator was the greatest for value portfolios that were formed on the basis of three-composite value measures. The risk-adjusted performance of the best value winner portfolios could be enhanced further by following the 130/30 long-short strategy to the extent that the best long-short portfolios significantly outperformed even the corresponding long-only value winner portfolios and more than double the average return of the stock market while at the same time, the annual volatility of the former was more than three percentage points lower than the average stock market volatility. Consistently with Bird and Casavecchia (2007a and 2007b), the inclusion of price momentum in portfolio-formation criteria also increased the proportion of stocks with above-average returns in the best-performing portfolios.

Pätäri *et al.* (2012) examined the efficiency of DEA as a formation criterion for equity portfolios in a case in which input and output factors were derived from indicators of relative valuation of stocks and from the price momentum indicator. Their results for the comprehensive sample of the Finnish stocks over the 1994-2010 period clearly showed the capability of the DEA approach to separate the outperforming stocks of the future from the underperforming stocks at tercile portfolio level. Moreover, the discriminating power of the DEA approach was higher than that documented for other methods in the earlier Finnish studies in which portfolio-formation criteria based on either value-only measures or combination of value and momentum indicators have been used. However, due to slight differences in sample periods and methodology, the results of these studies are not directly comparable.

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> In contrast, Leivo (2012) reported that for the 1993-2009 period, the inclusion of price momentum benefits most S/P value portfolio.

### 4 SUMMARY OF PUBLICATIONS

# 4.1 The main results of the publications

The *first research paper* of the dissertation co-authored with Eero Pätäri and Ilkka Kilpiä examines the performance of various value strategies in the Finnish stock market during the 1991-2006 period. The sample of stocks was divided into quintile portfolios based on four individual valuation ratios (i.e., E/P, EBITDA/EV, B/P, and S/P) and three hybrids of them. The performance of quintile portfolios were evaluated based on several performance metrics that take account of different dimensions of portfolio risk (i.e., the Sharpe ratio, the Sortino ratio, the Jensen alpha, and 2-factor alpha). All the performance tests employed give strong evidence of the value premium that cannot be explained by size effect. During the sample period value portfolios significantly outperformed both the market portfolio and comparable glamour portfolios. The results showed further that the risk-adjusted performance of value portfolios could be somewhat enhanced by basing portfolio selection criteria on such composite measures that employs EBITDA/EV as earnings multiple. To our knowledge, this is actually the first published journal article that examines the performance of EBITDA/EV-ranked quantile portfolios and compares it to performance of portfolios formed on the basis of more commonly used valuation ratios.

Consistently with the results of Dhatt et al. (1999, 2004), our results give some indications that the performance of value strategies based on individual valuation multiples could be somewhat enhanced by using the composite selection criteria. Two best selection criteria in forming the value portfolio in the sample period were those based on C2 and C3 composite value measures, which are a hybrid of EBITDA/EV and B/P, and a hybrid of EBITDA/EV, B/P and S/P. Interestingly, we noted that abnormal returns of value portfolios formed on the basis of composite value measures were generally less sensitive to changing stock market sentiment than those based on individual valuation ratios. During the sample period EBITDA/EV turned out to be the best of those selection criteria that were based on individual valuation multiples and it was also included in both of two above-mentioned best composite value measures. Based on the results, it seems that replacing E/P with EBITDA/EV as earnings multiple would add some value into portfolio performance.

The second research paper, co-authored with Eero Pätäri, examines the impact of the holding period length on performance of various value strategies in the Finnish stock market during the 1993-2008 period. The sample of stocks was divided into 3-quantile portfolios based on six individual valuation ratios and three hybrids of them which in this study were D/P and EBITDA/EV, and 3-compositions of D/P, B/P and EBITDA/EV, and D/P, B/P and E/P. Parallel to the findings of many international studies, our results from performance comparisons indicated that for the sample data employed, the yearly reformation of portfolios is not necessarily optimal in order to maximally gain from the value premium (e.g., see Lakonishok et al. 1994; Bird and Casavecchia, 2007a, 2007b). Instead, the value investor may extend his holding period up to 5 years without any decrease in long-term portfolio performance. Regardless of the portfolio reformation frequency, the use of either dividend yield criterion or one of three composite value measures employed results in best value portfolio performance according to all performance metrics used. The superiority of these four formation criteria stems particularly from their ability to separate the best performing stocks of the future from the average-performing stocks of the future. In addition, the proportion of stocks that outperform the stock market average during the subsequent holding period can be somewhat increased by forming the value portfolio based on these four criteria. Somewhat surprisingly, those individual portfolio formation criteria that have been proven to be the most efficient in the recent studies employing international sample data (i.e., S/P and B/P), were the least efficient in the Finnish stock market leading to the smallest and sometimes even a negative value premium during the 1993-2008 sample period.

To my knowledge, the *third research paper*, co-authored with Eero Pätäri and Samuli Honkapuro, is the first attempt to form value portfolios using DEA models. The proposed methodology provides an interesting alternative to detect undervalued stocks by capturing several dimensions of relative value simultaneously. Using the Finnish sample data over the 1993-2008 period, tercile portfolios of non-financial stocks were formed on the basis of their DEA scale efficiency scores. The performance of each portfolio was evaluated on the basis of stacked time-series of monthly returns throughout the 15-year period. The results showed that the DEA scale efficiency scores provide a useful basis for value stock portfolio selection.

The *fourth research paper*, co-authored with Eero Pätäri examines the added value of combining price momentum with various value strategies in the Finnish stock market during the 1993-2008 period. The results showed that taking account of the price momentum of value stocks enhances portfolio performance. Among the best-performing portfolios, the performance improvement resulting from the inclusion of a momentum indicator was the greatest for value portfolios that were formed on the basis of three-composite value measures which consists D/P, B/P and EBITDA/EV. The risk-adjusted performance of the best value winner portfolios could be enhanced further by following the 130/30 long-short strategy in which the long position of value winner stocks is leveraged by 30 percentages while simultaneously selling short glamour loser stocks by the same amount. The best long-short portfolios significantly outperformed the corresponding long-only value winner portfolios and yielded more than double the average return of the stock market coupled with the volatility decrease.

The *fifth paper* of the thesis co-authored with Eero Pätäri and Samuli Honkapuro examines the applicability of data envelopment analysis (DEA) as a basis of selection criteria for equity portfolios. It is the first DEA application for constructing a combined equity investment strategy that aims to integrate the benefits of both value investing and momentum investing. Because DEA is capable to combine multiple inputs and outputs of an entity into a single efficiency score without any *a priori* definitions of the relationship between the input and output parameters or their preassigned weights, the methodology employed in this paper offers a new approach to combine value and momentum indicators.<sup>14</sup> Tercile portfolios were composed of a comprehensive sample of Finnish non-financial stocks based on their DEA efficiency scores that were calculated using three variants of DEA models (the constant returns-to-scale, the super-efficiency, and the cross-efficiency models). The performance of portfolios was evaluated on the basis of the average return and several risk-adjusted performance metrics throughout the 1994-2010 sample period.

Based on the results, DEA seems to provide a highly selective approach to portfolio formation, since most of the criteria employed are capable of classifying stocks in such a way that not only do the top-quantile portfolios outperform both the market portfolio and the corresponding bottom-quantile portfolios, but also the middle-quantile portfolios outperform the comparable bottom-

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> To my best knowledge, this cannot be done by means of any of the methods that have been previously used for combining value and momentum indicators into single portfolio-formation criterion.

quantile portfolios. To my knowledge, such strong performance differences have not been reported in earlier peer-reviewed studies that have employed the comparable 3-quantile approach of dividing stocks into portfolios. Consistently with the previous literature, the division of the full sample period into bullish and bearish periods revealed that the top-quantile DEA portfolios had lost far less of their value during the bearish conditions than the corresponding bottom portfolios. The methodology employed offers an interesting alternative for detecting the outperforming stocks of the future by capturing both the price momentum and several dimensions of relative value simultaneously. DEA is particularly useful as a multicriteria methodology in cases in which the number of stocks in the sample is large. It therefore also has useful implications to practical portfolio management.

The sixth research paper examines the added value of combining a momentum indicator with a value indicator in varying stock market conditions using the Finnish stock market data during the 1993-2009 period. The results showed that taking account of price momentum beside relative valuation criteria enhances the performance of most of the best value-only portfolios during the full sample period. In this sense, the results were consistent with those of Bird and Casavecchia (2007b) and Leivo and Pätäri (2011). The subperiod analysis revealed that during bullish conditions, the inclusion of a momentum criterion somewhat adds value to an investor, but during bearish conditions this added value is reversed. Interestingly, even though value winner strategies were, on an average, the best strategies during the full sample period and outperformed the stock market portfolio also during bearish conditions, they are not the most optimal strategies during bear market periods. In such conditions, some of the value loser portfolios performed even better, especially among those strategies that were the best during the full sample period. The finding is explained by the fact that during bear market conditions the value loser portfolios lose much less of their value than all the rest of the quantile portfolios. In contrast, among value-only portfolios the losses were lowest for P1 portfolios that consisted of stocks of the lowest relative valuation sextile. Thus, the added value of including momentum beside the valuation criterion during bearish conditions is negative. The additional subperiod results showed further that the recent financial crisis has reduced the added value of using a combination of momentum and value indicators as a portfolio formation criterion. This massive crash provided a very interesting basis for subperiod analysis especially for value strategies which have been proved to outperform markets and glamour portfolios during bearish conditions (e.g., see Lakonishok et al., 1994; Pätäri and Leivo, 2009). Moreover, the previous subperiod analysis revealed that the outperformance of value strategies is almost entirely attributed to the fact that value portfolios lose much less of their value during bearish conditions than do stocks on average. In this sense, the results were consistent with the recent findings of Athanassakos (2010, 2011b) and Gulen *et al.* (2011) on the time-variability of the value premium<sup>15</sup>. The same phenomenon, though based on different portfolio-formation criteria that included only relative value aspect, were also documented by Lakonishok *et al.* (1994), Bauman et al. (1998) and Bird and Whitaker (2003). Therefore, the recent financial crisis offered an interesting opportunity for comparing whether this phenomenon holds also for the latest stock market downtrend that has been described as exceptional in many ways.

Overall, according to the results, the price momentum criterion adds value to value portfolio performance only during non-bearish periods, while the reverse holds for bearish periods. However, since the stock markets have historically been bullish more often than bearish, the combination of the value and momentum criteria has paid off to the investor despite the fact that its added value during bearish periods is negative, on an average. In this respect, the findings are consistent with recent evidence from the major stock markets, according to which momentum profits are dependent on market states (e.g., see Cooper *et al.*, 2004; Avramov and Chordia, 2006; Antoniou *et al.*, 2007).

### 4.2 Limitations of the thesis

When considering the robustness of the results of the articles included in this thesis, there are several issues that must be taken into account. Firstly, we have assumed that there are neither transaction costs nor taxes. Thus, the trading strategies being examined could most benefit institutional investors who do not pay taxes and whose transaction costs are relatively low, such as mutual funds, for example. In addition, the net asset value of such an investor should not be very high so that trades could be made without major impact on market prices of stocks purchased or sold. So the most potential gainer for these trading strategies would be small-scale institutional investors. However, our overall results do not show that the main findings would have been explained by firm size effect, which could decrease the limitations set by the liquidity effects. On

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> Athanassakos (2011b) reported that the both E/P and B/P value quartile portfolios of AMEX, NASDAQ and NYSE stocks lost less of their value than did the corresponding growth portfolios during the bearish conditions within 1986-2006 period, except for the case of AMEX stocks when the year-end projected (forward-looking) E/P ratios were used as a portfolio formation criterion.

the other hand, while the results do not necessarily violate the market efficiency, they are indisputably in contrast with informational efficiency of the Finnish stock market. In addition, the impact of taxes on the evidence of value premium would be somewhat restricted because the portfolio-reformation frequency is always the same for all quantile portfolios.

Moreover, the sample of stocks is not large in spite of its comprehensiveness from the local stock market aspect. Therefore, it might well be that our results are specific to the Finnish stock markets and for the sample periods employed. On the other hand, numerous corresponding international comparisons have shown that the results are always at least to some extent country-specific (e.g., see Artmann et al., 2012, Fama and French, 1998; 2012) and dependent on sample period (e.g., see Guerard, Jr., 2006). In contrast to the great majority of value investing literature, we chose to include also companies with negative earnings in our sample and classified the stocks of such companies as glamour stocks. We included them for three reasons: Firstly, excluding them would have caused sample-selection bias that, in our opinion, would have been a bigger trade-off than including them, since our aim was to find out whether trading strategies examined would have generated abnormal returns within the whole universe of the Finnish non-financial stocks, and not just within those with positive earnings. Secondly, excluding them would have further narrowed down our sample data or forced us to reduce the sample period which both would have been disadvantageous to the statistical reliability of our results. Thirdly, the scarce previous literature in which stocks with negative earnings have included in comparable analysis does not indicate that this methodological choice would tend to increase the value premium, but rather vice versa: e.g. Jaffe et al. (1989) and Bauman et al. (1998) reported consistently above-average returns for firms of all size with negative earnings. In addition, the main results based on E/P criterion are pretty much in line with those based on other valuation multiples which gives further justification to the inclusion of all potential stocks in our analyses. Like noted by Leivo et al. (2009), the impact of the inclusion of firms with negative earnings on the value premium is bidirectional; if those firms continued making losses in the near future, the inclusion of such companies might tend to increase the value premium. On the other hand, if they succeed in turning their negative earnings to positive, the inclusion of such companies will most probably decrease the value premium since the highest returns are often generated by stocks of such turnaround companies.

### 5 DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSIONS

The overall results of this thesis showed indisputably that the Finnish stock markets have offered interesting possibilities for the investor who has based his/her investment decisions on systematic trading strategies. In contrast to the majority of international studies, there is strong evidence that the best individual valuation criterion for portfolio formation in the Finnish stock market has been the D/P ratio. On the other hand, the parallel results have also been reported from French stock markets (Fama and French, 1998) and from the Greek stock markets (Kyriazis and Diacogiannis, 2007). Correspondingly the discriminatory power of valuation ratios that have shown their efficiency in international studies, such as B/P and S/P ratio has been relatively low in the Finnish stock market. However, the differences may at least partially be explained by the differences in tax treatments of capital gains and dividend pay-outs between different countries.

The overall results give strong evidence of the value premium that cannot be explained by risk factors. Value portfolios significantly outperformed both the market portfolio and comparable glamour portfolios. The results showed further that the risk-adjusted performance of value portfolios can be somewhat enhanced by basing portfolio selection criteria on composite value measures. The division of the full sample period into bull and bear market periods revealed that outperformance of value strategies were attributed for the most part to their superior performance during bear market conditions. Moreover, abnormal returns of value portfolios based on composite measures were least sensitive to changing stock market sentiment. The inclusion of a momentum criterion somewhat adds value to an investor during bullish conditions, but during bearish conditions this added value is reversed. The recent financial crisis has reduced the added value of using a combination of momentum and value indicators as a portfolio formation criterion. According to the results, the price momentum criterion adds value to value portfolio performance only during non-bearish periods, while the reverse holds for bearish periods. However, since the stock markets have historically been bullish more often than bearish, the combination of the value and momentum criteria has paid off to the investor despite the fact that its added value during bearish periods is negative, on an average.

The yearly reformation of portfolios is not necessarily optimal in order to maximally gain from the value premium. Instead, the value investor may extend his holding period up to 5 years without any decrease in long-term portfolio performance. Regardless of the portfolio reformation frequency, the use of either dividend yield criterion or one of the composite value measures employed results in

best value portfolio performance according to all performance metrics used. In addition, the proportion of stocks that outperform the stock market average during the subsequent holding period can be somewhat increased by forming the value portfolio based on these criteria.

The thesis contributes to the existing literature of value anomalies in several ways: First, we examined whether the excess returns of value portfolios are explained by greater downside risk. To my best knowledge, this was the first time when the downside risk approach is employed in the studies on performance of value strategies. 16 Second, we use EBITDA/EV multiple as a basis of value strategies while comparable studies have for the most part concentrated on E/P and CF/P ratios as representatives of earnings multiples. Leivo et al. (2009) was the first published journal article that examined the performance of EBITDA/EV-ranked quantile portfolios and compared it to performance of portfolios formed on the basis of more commonly used valuation ratios. The evidence from the Finnish markets shows that in many cases, it is appropriate to use EBITDA/EV ratio as earnings multiple in portfolio formation. The results showed that the use of EBITDA/EV ratio adds often value to portfolio selection particularly in the context of composite value measures as it often brings two new dimensions in classification criteria, whereas conventional price based earnings multiples (E/P and CF/P) bring only one. The thesis contributes to the existing financial literature also by examining the added value of combining price momentum with composite value measures as a portfolio formation criterion in the articles published in Journal of Asset Management and in Review of Accounting and Finance.

The results showed also the applicability of data envelopment analysis (DEA) for the purpose of equity portfolio formation. To my best knowledge, the article published in *Studies in Economics and Finance* is the first in the financial literature in which DEA efficiency scores are based solely on the variables that are components of traditional valuation multiples. In the article published in *European Journal of Operational Research*, we also extend the applicability of DEA methods to the combination of value and momentum indicators. At least for the sample data employed, the discriminatory power of DEA in classifying stocks into quantile portfolios seems superior to the conventional portfolio formation methods.

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> The topic was indirectly discussed by Rousseau and van Rensburg (2004) who report positive skewness in return distributions of value portfolios that become more pronounced over longer holding periods.

DEA applications provide several potential extensions for further research. The DEA methods employed in this thesis could be applied to larger international sample data to examine to what extent our results hold for the larger sample of stocks. Furthermore, several combinations and permutations of input and output variables could be tested to find the set of variables that leads to the best performance in each stock market.

The implications of the results of this thesis are useful for both academics and equity investors who are interested in enhancing risk-adjusted performance of their investments. Results give useful insights to the Finnish stock market and provide especial useful implications for value portfolio management.

### REFERENCES

Ackert, L. and Athanassakos, G. (1997) Prior Uncertainty, Analyst Bias, and Subsequent Abnormal Returns, *Journal of Financial Research*, Vol. 20, No. 2, pp. 263-273.

Ahn, D.H., Conrad, J. and Dittmar, R.F. (2003) Risk Adjustment and Trading Strategies, *Review of Financial Studies*, Vol. 16, No. 2, pp. 459–85.

Ali, A., Hwang, L-S. and Trombley, M.A. (2003) Arbitrage Risk and the Book-to-Market Anomaly, *Journal of Financial Economics*, Vol. 69, No. 2, pp. 355-373.

Ang, A. and Chen, J. (2007) The CAPM Over the Long-run: 1926-2001, *Journal of Empirical Finance*, Vol. 14, No. 1, pp. 1–40.

Antoniou, A., Lam, H.Y.T. and Paudyal, K. (2007) Profitability of Momentum Strategies in International Markets: The Role of Business Cycle Variables and Behavioural Biases, *Journal of Banking and Finance*, Vol. 31, No. 3, pp. 955–972.

Arnott, R. and Hsu, J. (2008) Noise, CAPM and the Size and Value Effects, *Journal of Investment Management*, Vol. 6, No. 1, pp. 1-11.

Artmann, S., Finter, P. and Kempf, A. (2012) Determinants of Expected Stock Returns: Large Sample Evidence from the German Market, *Journal of Business Finance and Accounting*, Vol. 39, No. 5 and 6, pp. 758-784.

Asness, C.S. (1997) The Interaction of Value and Momentum Strategies, *Financial Analyst Journal*, Vol. 53, No. 2, pp. 29-36.

Asness, C.S., Moskowitz, T.J. and Pedersen, L.H. (2010) Value and Momentum Everywhere, Working Paper, Presented at AFA 2010 Atlanta Meetings.

Athanassakos, G. (2009) Value vs. Growth Stock Returns and the Value Premium: The Canadian Experience 1985-2005, *Canadian Journal of Administrative Sciences*, Vol. 26, No. 2, pp. 109-121.

Athanassakos, G. (2010) Seasonality in Value vs. Growth Stock Returns and the Value Premium, *Journal of Financial and Economic Practice*, Vol. 10, No. 2, pp. 71-94.

Athanassakos, G. (2011a) Do Value Investors Add Value?, *Journal of Investing*, Vol. 20, No. 2, pp. 86-100.

Athanassakos, G. (2011b) The Performance, Pervasiveness and Determinants of Value Premium in Different US Exchanges: 1985-2006, *Journal of Investment Management*, Vol. 9, No. 3, pp. 33-73.

Avramov, D. and Chordia, T. (2006) Asset Pricing Models and Financial Markets Anomalies, *Review of Financial Studies*, Vol. 19, No. 3, pp. 1001–1040.

Ball, R. (1978) Anomalies in Relationships between Securities' Yields and Yieldsurrogates, *Journal of Financial Economics*, Vol. 6, No. 2/3, pp. 103-126.

Ball, R., Kothari, S.P. and Shanken, J. (1995) Problems in Measuring Portfolio Performance: An Application to Contrarian Investment Strategies, *Journal of Financial Economics*, Vol. 38, No. 1, pp. 79-107.

Banz, R., Breen, W.J. (1986) Sample-Dependent Results using Accounting and Market Data: Some Evidence, *Journal of Finance*, Vol. 41, No. 4, pp. 779-793.

Banz, R. (1981) The Relationship Between Return and Market Value of Common Stocks, *Journal of Financial Economics*, Vol. 9, No. 1, pp. 3-18.

Barbee, W.C., Jeong, J-G. and Mukherji, S. (2008) Relations between Portfolio Returns and Market Multiples, *Global Finance Journal*, Vol. 19, No. 1, pp. 1-10.

Barbee, W.C.Jr, Mukherji, S. and Raines, G.A. (1996) Do Sales-Price and Debt-Equity Explain Stock Returns Better than Book-Market and Firm Size?, *Financial Analysts Journal*, Vol. 52, No. 2, pp. 56-60.

Barberis, N., Shleifer, A. and Vishny, R. (1998) A Model of Investor Sentiment, *Journal of Financial Economics*, Vol. 49, No. 3, pp. 307-343.

Basu, S. (1977) Investment Performance of Common Stocks in Relation to their Price Earnings Ratios: a Test of the Efficient Market Hypothesis, *Journal of Finance*, Vol. 32, No. 3, pp. 663-682.

Basu, S. (1983) The Relationship Between Earning's Yield, Market Value and Return for NYSE Common Stocks: Future Evidence, *Journal of Financial Economics*, Vol. 12, No. 1, pp. 129-156.

Bauman, S.W., Conover, M.C. and Miller, R.E. (1998) Growth versus Value and Large-Cap versus Small-Cap Stocks in International Markets, *Financial Analysts Journal*, Vol. 54, No. 2, pp. 75-89.

Berk, J.B., Green, R.C. and Naik, V. (1999) Optimal Investment, Growth Options, and Security Return, *Journal of Finance*, Vol. 54, No. 5, pp. 1553–1607.

Bernard, V.L. and Stober, T.L. (1989) The Nature and Amount of Information in Cash Flows and Accruals, *The Accounting Review*, Vol. 64, No. 4, pp. 624-652.

Bettman, J., Sault, S. and Schultz, E. (2009) Fundamental and Technical Analysis: Substitutes or Complements?, *Accounting and Finance*, Vol. 49, No. 1, pp. 21-36.

Bird, R. and Casavecchia, L. (2006) Insights into the Momentum Life Cycle for European Stocks, *The Journal of Investing*, Vol. 15, No. 3, pp. 105-118.

Bird, R. and Casavecchia, L. (2007a) Sentiment and Financial Health Indicators for Value and Growth Stocks: The European Experience, *European Journal of Finance*, Vol. 13, No. 8, pp. 769-793.

Bird, R. and Casavecchia, L. (2007b) Value Enhancement Using Momentum Indicators: The European Experience, *International Journal of Managerial Finance*, Vol. 3, No. 3, pp. 229-262.

Bird, R. and Gerlach, R. (2006) A Bayesian Model Averaging Approach to Enhance Value Investment, *International Journal of Business and Economics*, Vol. 5, No. 2, pp. 111-127.

Bird, R. and Whitaker, J. (2003) The Performance of Value and Momentum Investment Portfolios: Recent Experience in the Major European Markets, *Journal of Asset Management*, Vol. 4, No. 4, pp. 221-246.

Bird, R. and Whitaker, J. (2004) The Performance of Value and Momentum Investment Portfolios: Recent Experience in the Major European Markets: Part 2, *Journal of Asset Management*, Vol. 5, No. 3, pp. 157-175.

Black, F. (1993) Beta and Return, Journal of Portfolio Management, Vol. 20, No. 1, pp. 8-18.

Black, F. and Scholes, M.S. (1974) The Effects of Dividend Yield an Dividend Policy on Common Stock Prices and Returns, *Journal of Financial Economics*, Vol. 1, No. 1, pp. 1-22.

Blume, M.E. (1980) Stock Returns and Dividend Yields: Some More Evidence, *Review of Economics and Statistics*, Vol. 62, No. 4, pp. 567-577.

Booth, G.G., Martikainen, T., Perttunen, J. and Yli-Olli, P. (1994) On the Functional Form of Earnings and Stock Prices: International Evidence and Implications for the E/P Anomaly, *Journal of Business Finance and Accounting*, Vol. 21, No. 3, pp. 395-408.

Breen, W. (1968) Low Price-Earning Ratios and Industry Relatives, *Financial Analyst Journal*, Vol. 24, No. 4, pp. 125-127.

Brennan, M. (1970) Taxes, Market Valuation and Corporate Financial Policy, *National Tax Journal*, Vol. 23, No. 4, pp. 417–427.

Brennan, M., Chordia, T. and Subrahmanyam, A. (1998) Alternative Factor Specifications, Security Characteriristics and the Cross-Section of Expected Stock Returns, *Journal of Financial Economics*, Vol. 49, No. 3, pp. 345-373.

Brown, S., Du, D., Rhee, S. and Zhang, L. (2008) The Returns to Value and Momentum in Asian Markets, *Emerging markets review*, Vol. 9, No. 4, pp. 79-88.

Bulkley, G. and Nawosah, V. (2009) Can the Cross-Sectional Variation in Expected Stock Returns Explain Momentum?, *Journal of Financial and Quantitative Analysis*, Vol. 44, No. 4, pp. 777-794.

Campbell, J.Y., J. Hilscher, and J. Szilagyi (2008) In Search of Distress Risk, Journal of Finance, Vol. 63, No. 2, pp. 2899-2939.

Capaul, C., Rowley, I., and Sharpe, W.F. (1993) International Value and Growth Stock Returns, *Financial Analysts Journal*, Vol. 49, No. 1, pp. 27 – 36.

Capstaff, J., Paudyal, K. and Rees, W. (2001) A Comparative Analysis of Earnings Forecasts in Europe, *Journal of Business Finance and Accounting*, Vol. 28, No. 5, pp. 531–562.

Chan, A. and Chui, A.P.L. (1996) An Empirical Re-examination of the Cross-section of Expected Returns: UK Evidence, *Journal of Business Finance and Accounting*, Vol. 23, No. 9/10, pp. 1435-1452.

Chan, L.K.C., Hameed, A. and Tong, W. (2000) Profitability of Momentum Strategies in the International Equity Markets, *Journal of Financial and Quantitative Analysis*, Vol. 35, No. 2, pp. 153-172.

Chan, L.K.C., Jegadeesh, N. and Lakonishok, J. (1995) Evaluating the Performance of Value versus Glamour Stocks: The Impact of Selection Bias, *Journal of Financial Economics*, Vol. 38, No. 3, pp. 269-296.

Chan, L.K.C., Jegadeesh, N. and Lakonishok, J. (1996) Momentum Strategies, *Journal of Finance*, Vol. 51, No. 5, pp. 1681-1713.

Chan, L.K.C., Karceski, J. and Lakonishok, J. (2003) The Level and Persistence of Growth Rates, *Journal of Finance*, Vol. 58, No. 2, pp. 643-684.

Chan, L.K.C. and Lakonishok, J. (2004) Value and Growth Investing: Review and Update, *Financial Analysts Journal*, Vol. 60, No. 1, pp. 71–86.

Chan, L.K.C., Hamao, Y. and Lakonishok, J. (1993) Can Fundamentals Predict Japanese Stock Returns?, *Financial Analysts Journal*, Vol. 49, No. 4, pp. 63-69.

Chan, L.K.C., Yasushi H. and Lakonishok, J. (1991) Fundamentals and Stock Returns in Japan, *Journal of Finance*, Vol. 46, No. 5, pp. 1739-64.

Chen, L., Petkova, R. and Zhang, L. (2008) The Expected Value Premium, *Journal of Financial Economics*, Vol. 87, No. 2, pp. 269-280.

Chen, N. and Zhang, F. (1998) Risk and Return of Value Stocks, *Journal of Business*, Vol. 71, No. 4, pp. 501-535.

Chen, P. and Zhang, G. (2007) How Do Accounting Variables Explain Stock Price Movements? Theory and Evidence, *Journal of Accounting and Economics*, Vol. 43, No. 2-3, pp. 219-244.

Chopra, N., Lakonishok, J. and Ritter J. (1992) Measuring Abnormal Performance: Do Stocks Overreact?, *Journal of Financial Economics*, Vol. 31, No. 2, pp. 235-268.

Chordia, T. and Shivakumar, L. (2002) Momentum, Business Cycle, and Time-Varying Expected Returns, *Journal of Finance*, Vol. 57, No. 2, pp. 985–1019.

Chordia, T., Shivakumar, L. (2006) Earnings and Price Momentum, *Journal of Financial Economics*, Vol. 80, No. 3, pp. 627–656.

Christie, W. (1990) Dividend Yield and Expected Returns: The Zero-Dividend Puzzle, *Journal of Financial Economics*, Vol. 28, No. 1-2, pp. 95–125.

Chui, A.C.W., Titman, S. and Wei, K.C.J. (2010) Individualism and Momentum around the World, *Journal of Finance*, Vol. 65, No. 1, pp. 361–392.

Cochrane, J.H. (1991) Production-Based Asset Pricing and the Link between Stock Returns and Economic Fluctuations, *Journal of Finance*, Vol. 46, No. 1, pp. 209-237.

Conrad, J. and Kaul, G. (1993) Long-Term Market Overreaction or Biases in Computed Returns?, *Journal of Finance*, Vol. 48, No. 1, pp. 39-63.

Conrad, J., Cooper, M. and Kaul, G. (2003) Value versus Glamour, *Journal of Finance*, Vol. 58, No. 5, pp. 1969–1995.

Conrad, J. and Kaul, G. (1998) An Anatomy of Trading Strategies, *Review of Financial Studies*, Vol. 11, No. 3, pp. 89–519.

Cook T.J. and Rozeff, M.S. (1984) Size and Earnings/price Ratio Anomalies: One Effect or Two?, *Journal of Financial and Quantitative Analysis*, Vol. 19, No. 4, pp. 449-466.

Cooper, M., Gutierrez Jr.R.C. and Hameed, A. (2004) Market States and Momentum, *Journal of Finance*, Vol. 59, No. 3, pp. 1345–1365.

Damodaran, A. (2002) Investment Valuation, John Wiley & Sons, Inc., Hoboken, New Jersey

Damodaran, A. (2006) Damodaran on Valuation, Wiley, Hoboken, NJ, on http://pages.stern.nyu.edu/ adamodar ~ /

Daniel, K., Hirshleifer, D. and Subrahmanyam A. (1998) A Theory of Overconfidence, Self-attribution, and Security Market Under- and OverReactions, *Journal of Finance*, Vol. 53, No. 6, pp. 1839-1886.

Daniel, K., Hirshleifer, D. and Subrahmanyam, A. (2001) Overconfidence, Arbitrage, and Equilibrium Asset Pricing, *Journal of Finance*, Vol. 56, No. 3, pp. 921–965.

Daniel, K. and Titman, S. (1997) Evidence on the Characteristics of Cross Sectional Variation in Stock Returns, *Journal of Finance*, Vol. 52, No. 1, pp. 1-33.

Daniel, K. and Titman, S. (1999) Market Efficiency in an Irrational World, *Financial Analysts Journal*, Vol. 55, No. 6, pp. 28-40.

Daniel, K. and Titman, S. (2006) Market Reactions to Tangible and Intangible Information, *Journal of Finance*, Vol. 61, No. 4, pp. 1605–1643.

Davis, J. (1994) The Cross-Section of Realized Stock Returns: The Pre-Compustat Evidence, *Journal of Finance*, Vol. 49, No. 5, pp. 1579-93.

Davis, J., Fama, E. and French, K. (2000) Characteristics, Covariances and Average Returns: 1929 to 1997, *Journal of Finance*, Vol. 55, No. 1, pp. 389-406.

De Bondt, W.F.M. and Thaler, R.H. (1985) Does Stock Market Overreact, *Journal of Finance*, Vol. 40, No. 3, pp. 793–805.

Dechow, P.M., Hutton, A.P., and Sloan, R.G. (1999) An Empirical Assessment of the Residual Income Valuation Model, *Journal of Accounting and Economics*, Vol. 26, No. 1, pp. 1-34.

Desai, H., Rajgopal, S. and Venkatachalam, M. (2004) Value-Glamour and Accruals Mispricing: One Anomaly or Two?, *Accounting Review*, Vol. 79, No. 2, pp. 355-385.

Dhatt, M.S., Kim, Y.H. and Mukherji, S. (1999) The Value Premium for Small-Capitalization Stocks, *Financial Analysts Journal*, Vol. 55, No. 5, pp. 60-68.

Dhatt, M.S., Kim, Y.J. and Mukherji, S. (2004) Can Composite Value Measures Enhance Portfolio Performance?, *Journal of Investing*, Vol. 13, No. 4, pp. 42-48.

Dimson, E., Nagel, S. and Quigley, G. (2003) Capturing the Value Premium in the United Kingdom, *Financial Analysts Journal*, Vol. 59, No. 6, pp. 35–45.

Dissanaike, G. and Lim, K-H. (2010) The Sophisticated and the Simple: the Profitability of Contrarian Strategies, *European Financial Management*, Vol. 16, No. 2, pp. 229-255.

Doukas, J.A., Kim, C.F. and Pantzalis, C. (2002) A Test of the Errors-in-Expectations Explanation of the Value/Glamour Stock Returns Performance: Evidence from Analysts' Forecasts, *Journal of Finance*, Vol. 57, No. 5, pp. 2143-2165.

Doukas, J.A., Kim, C.F. and Pantzalis, C. (2004) Divergence of Opinions and the Performance of Value Stocks, *Financial Analysts Journal*, Vol. 60, No. 6, pp. 55-64.

Doukas, J.A., Kim, C.F. and Pantzalis, C. (2005) The Two Faces of Analyst Coverage, *Financial Management*, Vol. 34, No. 2, pp. 99–125.

Dow, Charles, 1920, Scientific Stock Speculation, The Magazine of Wall Street.

Eakins, G.S. and Stansell, S.R. (2004) Do Momentum Strategies Work?, *The Journal of Investing*, Vol. 13, No. 3, pp. 65-71.

Elton, E.J., Gruber, M.J. and Rentzler, J. (1983) A Simple Examination of the Empirical Relationship between Dividend Yields and Deviations from the CAPM, *Journal of Banking and Finance*, Vol. 7, No. 3, pp. 135-146.

Fama, E.F. and French, K.R. (1988) Dividend Yields and Expected Stock Returns, *Journal of Financial Economics*, Vol. 22, No. 1, pp. 3-25.

Fama, E.F. and French, K.R. (1992) The Cross-section of Expected Stock Returns, *Journal of Finance*, Vol. 47, No. 2, pp. 427-465.

Fama, E.F. and French, K.R. (1993) Common Risk Factors in the Returns on Stock and Bonds, *Journal of Financial Economics*, Vol. 33, No. 1, pp. 3-56.

Fama, E.F. and French, K.R. (1995) Size and Book to Market Factors in Earnings and Returns, *Journal of Finance*, Vol. 50, No. 1, pp. 131–155.

Fama, E.F. and French, K.R. (1998) Value versus Growth: The International Evidence, *Journal of Finance*, Vol. 53, No. 6, pp. 1935-1974.

Fama, E.F. and French, K.R. (2006) The Value Premium and the CAPM, *Journal of Finance*, Vol. 61, No. 5, pp. 2163-2185.

Fama, E.F. and French, K.R. (2007a) Migration, *Financial Analysts Journal*, Vol. 63, No. 3, pp. 48–58.

Fama, E.F. and French, K.R. (2007b) The Anatomy of Value and Growth Stock Returns, *Financial Analysts Journal*, Vol. 63, No. 6, pp. 44–54.

Fama, E.F. and French, K.R. (2012) Size, Value, and Momentum in International Stock Returns, *Journal of Financial Economics*, Vol. 105, No. 3, pp. 457-472.

Fama, E.F. and MacBeth, J.D. (1973) Risk, Return, and Equilibrium: Empirical Tests, *The Journal of Political Economy*, Vol. 81, No. 3, pp. 607-636.

Fisher, K.L. (1984) Super Stocks, Homewood, Illinois: Dow-Jones-Irwin.

Fong, W.M. (2012) Do Expected Business Conditions Explain the Value Premium?, *Journal of Financial Markets*, Vol. 15, No. 2, pp. 181-206.

Galariotis, E. (2010) What Should We Know About Momentum Investing? The Case of the Australian Security Exchange, *Pacific-Basin Finance Journal*, Vol. 18, No. 4, pp. 369–389.

Gerakos, J. and Linnainmaa, J. T. (2012) Decomposing Value, Working paper, University of Chicago, Booth School of Business, available at:

 $http://faculty.chicagobooth.edu/joseph.gerakos/PDFs/GerakosLinnainmaa\_DecomposingValue.pdf$ 

Graham, B. (1973) The Intelligent Investor, 4E revised. *Harper&Row*, Publishers, New York, 340 pp.

Graham, B. and Dodd, D. (1934) Security Analysis. New York, NY: *McGraw-Hill*, Subsequent editions were produced in 1940, 1951, and 1962 with Sidney Cottle an additional co-author of the 1962 edition and with the collaboration of Charles Tatham.

Gray, W.R. and Vogel, J. (2012) Analyzing Valuation Measures: A Performance Horse-Race over the past 40 Years, forthcoming in *Journal of Portfolio Management*.

Griffin, J.M. and Lemmon, M.L. (2002) Book-to-Market Equity, Distress Risk, and Stock Returns, *Journal of Finance*, Vol. 57, No. 5, pp. 2317-2336.

Grinblatt, M. and Han, B. (2005) Prospect Theory, Mental Accounting, and Momentum, *Journal of Financial Economics*, Vol. 78, No. 2, pp. 311–339.

Grundy, B. and Martin, J.S. (2001) Understanding the Nature and the Risks and the Sources of the Rewards to Momentum Investing, *Review of Financial Studies*, Vol. 14, No. 1, pp. 29–78.

Guerard, J.B., Jr. (2006) Quantitative Stock Selection in Japan and the United States: Some Past and Current No.s, *Journal of Investing*, Vol. 15, No. 1, pp. 43–49.

Guerard, J.B., Jr., Xu, Jr.G. and Gültekin, M. (2012) Investing with Momentum: The Past, Present, and Future, *The Journal of Investing*, Vol. 21, No. 1, pp. 68-80.

Gulen, H., Xing, Y. and Zhang, L. (2011) Value versus Growth: Time-varying Expected Stock Returns, *Financial Management*, Vol. 40, pp. 381-407.

Gutierrez, R.C. and Kelley, E.K. (2008) The Long-Lasting Momentum in Weekly Returns, *Journal of Finance*, Vol. 63, No. 1, pp. 415-447.

Haugen, R. (1995) The New Finance – the Case Against Efficient Markets, *Prentice-Hall, Englewood Cliffs*, NJ

Haugen, R. and Baker, N. (1996) Commonality in the Determinants of Expected Stock Returns, *Journal of Financial Economics*, Vol. 41, No. 3, pp. 401-439.

Hayn, C. (1995) The Information Contents of Losses, *Journal of Accounting and Economics*, Vol. 20, No. 2, pp. 125–153.

Hirshleifer, D.K.D. and Subrahmanyam, A. (1998) Investor Psychology and Security Market Under- and Overreactions, *Journal of Finance*, Vol. 53, No. 6, pp. 1835-1885.

Hong, H. and Stein, J.C. (1999) A Unified Theory of Underreaction, Momentum Trading, and Overreaction in Asset Markets, *Journal of Finance*, Vol. 54, No. 6, pp. 2143–2184.

Hou, K., Karolyi, G.A. and Kho B.C. (2011) What Factors Drive Global Stock Returns?, *The Review of Financial Studies*, Vol. 24, No. 8, pp. 2527-2574.

Jacobs, B. and Levy, K. (1988) Disentangling Equity Return Regularities: New Insights and Investment Opportunities, *Financial Analysts Journal*, Vol. 44, No. 3, pp. 18-43.

Jaffe, J., Keim, D.B. and Westerfield, R. (1989) Earnings Yield, Market Values and Stock Returns, *Journal of Finance*, Vol. 44, No. 1, pp. 135-148.

Jegadeesh, N., Kim, J., Krische, S. and Lee, C. (2004) Analyzing the Analysts: When Do Recommendations Add Value?, *Journal of Finance*, Vol. 59, No. 3, pp. 1083-1124.

Jegadeesh, N. and Titman, S. (1993) Returns to Buying Winners and Selling Losers: Implications for Stock Market Efficiency, *Journal of Finance*, Vol. 48, No. 1, pp. 65–91.

Jegadeesh, N. and Titman, S. (2001) Profitability of Momentum Strategies: An Evaluation of Alternative Explanations, *Journal of Finance*, Vol. 56, No. 2, pp. 699-720.

Kallunki, J-P. (2000) Stock Market Trading Strategies Based on Earnings and Cash Flows in Finland: Alternative Risk-Adjusting Approach, *Scandinavian Journal of Management*, Vol. 15, No. 1, pp. 85-99.

Kallunki, J-P, Martikainen, M. and Martikainen, T. (1998) Accounting income, income components and market-to-book equity ratios: Finnish evidence, *The International Journal of Accounting*, Vol. 33, No. 3, pp. 359-375.

Kauppi, M. and Martikainen, T. (1994) Trading Strategies Based on Stock Market Anomalies on the Helsinki Stock Exchange, *Vaasan yliopiston julkaisuja*, Tutkimuksia No. 179.

Keim, D.B. (1985) Dividend Yields and Stock Returns: Implications of Abnormal January Returns, *Journal of Financial Economics*, Vol. 14, No. 3, pp. 473–489. Keim, D.B. (1986) Dividend Yields and the January Effect, *Journal of Portfolio Management*, Vol. 12, No. 2, pp. 54-60.

Kim, M. and Ritter, J.R. (1999) Valuing IPOs, *Journal of Financial Economics*, Vol. 53, No. 3, pp. 409-437.

Korajczyk, R.A. and Sadka, R. (2004) Are Momentum Profits Robust to Trading Costs?, *Journal of Finance*, Vol. 59, No. 3, pp. 1039-1082.

Kothari, S.P., Shanken J. and Sloan, R.G. (1995) Another Look at the Cross-Section Expected Stock Returns, *Journal of Finance*, Vol. 50, No. 1, pp. 185–224.

Kyriazis, D. and Diacogiannis, C. (2007) Testing the Performance of Value Strategies in the Athens Stock Exchange, *Applied Financial Economics*, Vol. 17, No. 18, pp. 1511-1528.

Lakonishok, J., Vishny, R.W. and Sheifer, A. (1994) Contrarian Investment, Extrapolation and Risk, *Journal of Finance*, Vol. 49, No. 5, pp. 1541–1577.

Ledoit, O. and Wolf, M. (2008) Robust Performance Hypothesis Testing with the Sharpe Ratio, *Journal of Empirical Finance*, Vol. 15, No. 5, pp. 850-859.

Leivo, T.H. (2012) Combining Value and Momentum Indicators in Varying Stock Market Conditions: the Finnish Evidence, *Review of Accounting and Finance*, Vol. 11, No. 4, pp. 400-447.

Leivo, T.H. and Pätäri, E.J. (2009) The Impact of Holding Period Length on Value Portfolio Performance in the Finnish Stock Markets, *Journal of Money, Investment and Banking*, No. 8, pp. 71-86.

Leivo, T.H. and Pätäri, E.J. (2011) Enhancement of Value Portfolio Performance using Momentum and the Long-Short Strategy: the Finnish Evidence, *Journal of Asset Management*, Vol. 11, No. 6, pp. 401-416.

Leivo, T.H., Pätäri, E.J., and Kilpiä, I.J.J. (2009) Value Enhancement Using Composite Measures: The Finnish Evidence, *International Research Journal of Finance and Economics*, No. 33, pp. 7-30.

Leong, K., Pagani, M. and Zaima, J.K. (2009) Portfolio Strategies Using EVA, Earnings Ratio or Book-to-Market: Is One Best?, *Review of Accounting and Finance*, Vol. 8, No. 1, pp. 76-86.

Lesmond, D.A., Schill, M.J. and Zhou, C. (2004) The Illusory Nature of Momentum Profits, *Journal of Financial Economics*, Vol. 71, No. 2, pp. 349–380.

Lettau, M. and J. A. Wachter (2007) Why is Long-Horizon Equity Less Risky? A Duration-Based Explanation of the Value Premium, *Journal of Finance*, Vol. 62, No. 1, pp. 55–92.

Levis, M. (1989) Stock Market Anomalies: a Re-Assessment Based on UK Evidence, *Journal of Banking and Finance*, Vol. 13, No. 4/5, pp. 675-96.

Lewellen, J. (2002) Momentum and Autocorrelation in Stock Returns, *Review of Financial Studies*, Vol. 15, No. 2, pp. 533–563.

Lewellen, J. and Shanken, J. (2002) Learning, Asset-Pricing Tests, and Market Efficiency, *Journal of Finance*, Vol. 57, No. 3, pp. 1113–1145.

Li, X., Miffre, J., Brooks, C., and O' Sullivan, N. (2008) Momentum Profits and Time-Varying Unsystematic Risk, *Journal of Banking and Finance*, Vol. 32, No. 4, pp. 541-558.

Lintner, J. (1965) The Valuation of Risk Assets and the Selection of Risky Investments in Stock Portfolios and Capital Budgets, *Review of Economics and Statistics*, Vol. 47, No. 1, pp. 13-37.

Litzenberger, R.H. and Ramaswamy, K. (1979) The Effect of Personal Taxes and Dividends on Capital Asset Prices: Theory and Empirical Evidence, *Journal of Financial Economics*, Vol. 7, No. 2, pp. 163-95.

Litzenberger, R.H. and Ramaswamy, K. (1982) The Effects of Dividends on Common Stock Prices, *Journal of Finance*, Vol. 37, No. 2, pp. 429-443.

Liu, L.X, Whited, T.M. and Zhang, L. (2009) Investment Based Expected Stock Returns, *Journal of Political Economy*, Vol. 117, No. 6, pp. 1105-1139.

Liu, L.X. and Zhang, L. (2008) Momentum Profits, Factor Pricing, and Macroeconomic Risk, *Review of Financial Studies*, Vol. 21, No. 6, pp. 2417-2448.

Loughran, T. (1997) Book-to-Market Across Firm Size, Exchange, and Seasonality: Is There an Effect?, *Journal of Financial and Quantitative Analysis*, Vol. 32, No. 3, pp. 249-268.

Loughran, T. and Wellman, J. (2011) New Evidence on the Relation between the Enterprise Multiple and Average Stock Returns, *Journal of Financial and Quantitative Analysis*, Vol. 46, No. 6, pp. 1629-1650.

Markowitz, H.M. and Xu, G.L. (1994) Data Mining Corrections, *Journal of Portfolio Management*, Vol. 21, No. 1, pp. 60-69.

Martikainen, M. (1997) Accounting Losses and Earnings Response Coefficients: The Impact of Leverage and Growth Opportunities, *Journal of Business Finance and Accounting*, Vol. 24, No. 2, pp. 277-291.

Martikainen, T. (1992) On the Cross-sectional Variation of E/P-ratios. Implications to E/P-Anomaly, *Finnish Journal of Business Economics*, Vol. 41, No. 2, pp. 108-121.

Martikainen, T., Rothovius, T. and Yli-Olli, P. (1993) On the Individual and Incremental Information Content of Accrual Earnings, Cash Flows and Cash Dividends in the Finnish Stock Market, *European Journal of Operational Research*, Vol. 68, No. 3, pp. 318–333.

McWilliams, J.D. (1966) Price, Earning and P-E Ratios, *Financial Analyst Journal*, Vol. 22, No. 3, pp. 137-142.

Miles, D. and Timmermann, A. (1996) Variations in Expected Stock Returns: Evidence on the Pricing of Equities from a Cross-section of UK Companies, *Economica*, Vol. 63, No. 251, pp. 369-382.

Morgan, G. and Thomas, S. (1998) Taxes, Dividend Yields and Returns in the UK Equity Market, *Journal of Banking and Finance*, Vol. 22, No. 4, pp. 405-423.

Moskowitz, T.J. and Grinblatt, M. (1999) Do Industries Explain Momentum?, *Journal of Finance*, Vol. 54, No. 4, pp. 1249–1290.

Mossin, J. (1966) Equilibrium in a Capital Asset Market, *Econometrica*, Vol. 34, No. 4, pp. 768-783.

Mukherji, S., Dhatt, M., Kim, Y. (1997) A Fundamental Analysis of Korean Stock Returns, *Financial Analysts Journal*, Vol. 53, No. 3, pp. 75-80.

Naranjo, A., Nimalendran, M. and Ryngaert, M. (1998) Stock Returns, Dividend Yields, and Taxes, *Journal of Finance*, Vol. 53, No. 6, pp. 2029-2057.

Nicholson, S.F. (1960) Price-earnings Ratios, *Financial Analysts Journal*, Vol. 16, No. 4, pp. 43–45.

Nicholson, S.F. (1968) Price Ratios in Relation to Investment Results, *Financial Analysts Journal*, Vol. 24, No. 1, pp. 105-109.

Ohlson, J. (1995) Earnings, Book Values and Dividends in Equity Valuation, *Contemporary Accounting Research*, Vol. 11, No. 2, pp. 661-687.

O'Neal, E. (2000) Industry Momentum and Sector Mutual Funds, *Financial Analysts Journal*, Vol. 56, No. 4, pp. 37-49.

Patro, D.K. and Wu, Y. (2004) Predictability of Short-Horizon Equity Returns in International Equity Markets, *Journal of Empirical Finance*, Vol. 11, No. 4, pp. 553–584.

Penman, S. (1996) The Articulation of Price-earnings and Market-to-Book Ratios and the Evaluation of Growth, *Journal of Accounting Research*, Vol. 32, No. 2, pp. 235-259.

Penman, S. and Reggiani, F. (2012) Returns to Buying Earnings and Book Value: Accounting for Growth and Risk, forthcoming in *Review of Accounting Studies*.

Penman, S., Richardson, S.A. and Tuna, I. (2007) The Book-to-Price Effect in Stock Returns: Accounting for Leverage, *Journal of Accounting Research*, Vol. 45, No. 2, pp. 427-467.

Petkova, R. and Zhang, L. (2005) Is Value Riskier than Growth?, *Journal of Financial Economics*, Vol. 78, No. 1, pp. 187–202.

Phalippou, L. (2008) Where is the Value Premium?, *Financial Analysts Journal*, Vol. 64, No. 1, pp. 41-48.

Piotroski, J. (2000) Value Investing: The Use of Historical Financial Statement Information to Separate Winners from Losers, *Journal of Accounting Research*, Vol. 38, No. 3, pp. 1-41.

Piotroski, J. and So, E.C. (2012) Identifying Expectation Errors in Value/Glamour Strategies: A Fundamental Analysis Approach, *Review of Financial Studies*, Vol. 25, No. 9, pp. 2841-2875.

Pätäri, E.J. and Leivo, T.H. (2009) Performance of the Value Strategies in the Finnish Stock Markets, *Journal of Money, Investment and Banking*, No. 8, pp. 5-24.

Pätäri, E.J. and Leivo, T.H. (2010) Persistence in Relative Valuation Difference between Value and Glamour Stocks: The Finnish Experience, *Banking and Finance Letters*, Vol. 2, No. 3, pp. 60-66.

Pätäri, E.J., Leivo, T.H. and Honkapuro, J.V.S. (2010) Enhancement of Value Portfolio Performance using Data Envelopment Analysis, *Studies in Economics and Finance*, Vol. 27, No. 3, pp. 223-246.

Pätäri, E.J., Leivo, T.H. and Honkapuro, J.V.S. (2012) Enhancement of Equity Portfolio Performance using Data Envelopment Analysis, *European Journal of Operational Research*, Vol. 220, No. 3, pp. 786-797.

Reinganum, M.R. (1981) The Misspecification of Capital Asset Pricing Empirical Anomalies Based on Earnings Yield and Market Values, *Journal Financial Economics*, Vol. 9, No. 1, pp. 19–46.

Rinne, E. and Vähämaa, S. (2011) The 'Dogs of the Dow' Strategy Revisited: Finnish Evidence, *European Journal of Finance*, Vol. 17, No. 5-6, pp. 451-469.

Roll, R. (1995) An Empirical Survey of Indonesian Equities: 1985 – 1992, *Pacific-Basin Finance Journal*, Vol. 3, No. 2, pp. 159–192.

Rosenberg, B., Reid, K. and Lanstein, R. (1985) Persuasive Evidence of Market Inefficiency, *Journal of Portfolio Management*, Vol. 11, No. 3, pp. 9-16.

Rousseau, R. and van Rensburg, P. (2004) Time and the Payoff to Value Investing, *Journal of Asset Management*, Vol. 4, No. 5, pp. 318-325.

Rouwenhorst, K.G. (1998) International Momentum Strategies, *Journal of Finance*, Vol. 53, No. 1, pp. 267–284.

Rozeff, M.S. (1984) Dividend Yields Are Equity Risk Premiums, *Journal of Portfolio Management*, Vol. 11, No. 1, pp. 68-75.

Sagi, J.S. and Seasholes, M.S. (2007) Firm-Specific Attributes and the Cross Section of Momentum, *Journal of Financial Economics*, Vol. 84, No. 2, pp. 389–434.

Senchack, A.J.Jr. and John D.M. (1987) The Relative Performance of the PSR and PER Investment Strategies, *Financial Analysts Journal*, Vol. 43, No. 2, pp. 46-56.

Sharpe, W.F. (1964) Capital Asset Prices: A Theory of Market Equilibrium under Conditions of Risk, *Journal of Finance*, Vol. 19, No. 3, pp. 425-442.

Stivers, C. and Sun, L. (2010) Cross-Sectional Return Dispersion and Time Variation in Value and Momentum Premiums, *Journal of Financial and Quantitative Analysis*, Vol. 45, No. 4, pp. 987-1014.

Suzuki, M. (1998) PSR—An Efficient Stock-Selection Tool?, *International Journal of Forecasting* Vol. 14, No. 2, pp. 245-254.

Tobin, J. (1969) A General Equilibrium Approach to Monetary Theory, *Journal of Money, Credit and Banking*, Vol. 1, No. 1, pp. 15–29.

Trecartin, R.R., Jr. (2001) The Reliability of the Book-to-Market Ratio as a Risk Proxy, *Financial Services Review*, Vol. 9, No. 4, pp. 361-373.

Wilson, G.P. (1986) The Relative Information Content of Accruals and Cash Flows: Combined Evidence at the Earnings Announcement and Annual Report Release Date, *Journal of Accounting Research*, Vol. 24, No. 3, pp. 165-200.

Zhang, L. (2005) The Value Premium, Journal of Finance, Vol. 60, No. 1, pp. 67-103.

#### **ACTA UNIVERSITATIS LAPPEENRANTAENSIS**

- **463.** PUTKIRANTA, ANTERO. Possibilities and challenges of longitudinal studies in operations management. 2011. Diss.
- 464. HAPPONEN, ARI. Muuttuvaan kysyntään sopeutuva varastonohjausmalli. 2011. Diss.
- **465.** VASAVA, PARITOSH. Application of computational fluid dynamics in modelling blood flow in human thoracic aorta. 2011. Diss.
- **466.** PURO, LIISA. Identification of extractives and polysaccharides as foulants in membrane filtration of pulp and paper mill effluents. 2011. Diss.
- **467.** LAPPALAINEN, PIA. Socially Competent Leadership predictors, impacts and skilling in engineering. 2012. Diss.
- **468.** PLAMTHOTTATHIL, ANSHY OONNITTAN. Application of electrokinetic Fenton process for the remediation of soil contaminated with HCB. 2012. Diss.
- 469. EBRAHIMI, FATEMEH. Synthesis of percarboxylic acids in microreactor. 2012. Diss.
- 470. JANTUNEN, SAMI. Making sense of software product requirements. 2012. Diss.
- **471.** VILKO, JYRI. Approaches to supply chain risk management: identification, analysis and control. 2012. Diss.
- **472.** TANSKANEN, VESA. CFD modelling of direct contact condensation in suppression pools by applying condensation models of separated flow. 2012. Diss.
- **473.** HUHTANEN MIKKO. Software for design of experiments and response modelling of cake filtration applications. 2012. Diss.
- **474.** PARJANEN, SATU. Creating possibilities for collective creativity Brokerage functions in practice-based innovation. 2012. Diss.
- **475.** KUKKONEN, SAKU. Generalized differential evolution for global multi-objective optimization with constraints. 2012. Diss.
- 476. LAAKSONEN, JONNA. Tactile-proprioceptive robotic grasping. 2012. Diss.
- **477.** KALLIO, ANNE. Enhancing absorptive capacity in a non-research and development context An action research approach to converting individual observations into organizational awareness. 2012. Diss.
- **478.** LÄTTILÄ, LAURI. Improving transportation and warehousing efficiency with simulation based decision support systems. 2012. Diss.
- 479. OYOMNO, WERE. Usable privacy preservation in mobile electronic personality. 2012. Diss.
- 480. LINNALA, MIKKO. Simulation and optimization tools in paper machine concept design. 2012. Diss.
- **481.** KORPIJÄRVI, JUHA. Aging based maintenance and reinvestment scheduling of electric distribution network. 2012. Diss.
- 482. KORHONEN, JUHAMATTI. Active inverter output filtering methods. 2012. Diss.
- **483.** KLODOWSKI, ADAM. Flexible multibody approach in bone strain estimation during physical activity: quantifying osteogenic potential. 2012. Diss.

- **484.** VUORENMAA, MARKKU. Osaamisen johtaminen pk-yrityksen kansainvälisen kasvun elinkaarella. 2012. Diss.
- **485.** RAUTIAINEN, MARITA. Dynamic ownership in family business systems a portfolio business approach. 2012. Diss.
- **486.** LILIUS, REIJO. THE FINNISH IT INDUSTRIES IN TRANSITION Defining and measuring the Finnish software product and IT services industries by applying theoretical frameworks . 2012. Diss.
- **487.** TUOMINEN, PASI. The purpose of consumer co-operation: implications for the management and governance of co-operatives. 2012. Diss.
- **488.** SAARI, ESA. Suurnopeus-turbokoneroottoreiden termodynaaminen ja mekaaninen mallinnus sekä rakenneanalyysi. 2012. Diss.
- **489.** PAANANEN, MIKKO. On innovative search: the use of internal and external sources of innovation among Finnish innovators. 2012. Diss.
- **490.** BELOVA, POLINA. Quasiclassical approach to the vortex state in iron-based superconductors. 2012. Diss
- **491.** HIETANEN, IIRO. Design and characterization of large area position sensitive radiation detectors. 2012. Diss.
- **492.** PÄSSILÄ, ANNE. A reflexive model of research-based theatre Processing innovation of the cross-road of theatre, reflection and practice-based innovation activities. 2012. Diss.
- 493. RIIPINEN, TOMI. Modeling and control of the power conversion unit in a solid oxide fuel cell environment. 2012. Diss.
- **494.** RANTALAINEN, TUOMAS. Simulation of structural stress history based on dynamic analysis. 2012. Diss.
- **495.** SALMIMIES, RIINA. Acidic dissolution of iron oxides and regeneration of a ceramic filter medium. 2012. Diss.
- **496.** VAUTERIN, JOHANNA JULIA. The demand for global student talent: Capitalizing on the value of university-industry collaboration. 2012. Diss.
- **497.** RILLA, MARKO. Design of salient pole PM synchronous machines for a vehicle traction application. 2012. Diss.
- 498. FEDOROVA, ELENA. Interdependence of emerging Eastern European stock markets. 2012. Diss.
- **499.** SHAH, SRUJAL. Analysis and validation of space averaged drag model for numerical simulations of gas-solid flows in fluidized beds. 2012. Diss.
- **500.** WANG, YONGBO. Novel methods for error modeling and parameter identification of redundant hybrid serial-parallel robot. 2012. Diss.
- **501.** MAXIMOV, ALEXANDER. Theoretical analysis and numerical simulation of spectral radiative properties of combustion gases in oxy/air-fired combustion systems. 2012. Diss.
- 502. KUTVONEN, ANTERO. Strategic external deployment of intellectual assets. 2012. Diss.
- **503.** VÄISÄNEN, VESA. Performance and scalability of isolated DC-DC converter topologies in low voltage, high current applications. 2012. Diss.
- **504.** IKONEN, MIKA. Power cycling lifetime estimation of IGBT power modules based on chip temperature modeling. 2012. Diss.